

The expression of PF3D7_1146100; a novel, essential *Plasmodium falciparum* antigen, and its evaluation as a target of protective immunity to clinical malaria

Kivunga Faith Marura I56/8285/2017

Center for Biotechnology and Bioinformatics, University of Nairobi.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment for the degree of Master of Science in Biotechnology in the Centre for Biotechnology and Bioinformatics (CEBIB) of the

University of Nairobi.

Date of Submission: May 2021

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other university for examination.

Kivunga Faith Marura

Signature:

Date: <u>17/05/2021</u>

APPROVAL

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval/knowledge as supervisor(s):

Dr. Edward Muge

Department of Biochemistry and Centre for Biotechnology and Bioinformatics,

University of Nairobi.

Signature:

Date: <u>17/05/2021</u>

Dr. James Tuju

Bioscience Department,

KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme.

Signature:

Date: 17/05/2021

Prof. Faith Osier

Bioscience Department,

KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme.

Signature: HMongor

Date: 17/05/2021

DEDICATION

To our Blessed Mother, The Virgin Mary, for Her tender love and care thus far.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors: Dr. James Tuju for his close supervision, patience and training; Prof. Faith Osier for her guidance and granting me an opportunity to undertake this project in her lab; Dr. Edward Muge for his advice and encouragement. Because of their availability and mentorship, I was able to complete my project on time.

My special thanks to all the members of Faith Osier's group. The assistance provided by Timothy Chege, Rinter Kimathi, Karamoko Niare and Wilfrida Akoth on recombinant protein expression was invaluable. Many thanks to Doreen Mutemi, Rodney Ogwang and Lidya Nyamako for training me on parasite culture and their assistance on ELISA. I also wish to appreciate Irene Nailan for her advice on data analysis, without forgetting Sharon Auma's assistance with sequencing.

In a special way, I would like to extend my gratitude to the Initiative to Develop African Research Leaders (IDeAL) team at KEMRI Wellcome Trust for granting me a Master's fellowship. Without this opportunity I wouldn't have gained this level of exposure on scientific research. I wish to appreciate KEMRI-Wellcome Trust for providing a conducive environment in the labs.

My deepest gratitude to The University of Nairobi for giving me a scholarship. I wish to thank the Centre for Biotechnology and Bioinformatics (CEBIB) team led by Dr. George Obiero; and all the students in the centre especially, Shamim Osata, Lunayo Accadius and Peninnah Makusa, for their support and encouragement.

Finally, I would like to deeply appreciate my loving mum and dad, Lucrentia Matunda and Appolinar Kivunga, for their unwavering love and faith in me. My sincere gratitude to my sisters, Mary and Wakey; and brothers, Adolph, Adrian and Anthony for their prayers and love. In addition, I am grateful to my nephews Miguel, Job, Alexis and John Bosco for cheering me up during stressful moments while undertaking this project. Indeed, special thanks to everyone else who contributed to this success.

"This work was supported through the DELTAS Africa Initiative [DEL-15-003]. The DELTAS Africa Initiative is an independent funding scheme of the African Academy of Sciences (AAS)'s Alliance for Accelerating Excellence in Science in Africa (AESA) and supported by the New Partnership for Africa's Development Planning and Coordinating Agency (NEPAD Agency) with funding from the Wellcome Trust [107769/Z/10/Z] and the UK government. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of AAS, NEPAD Agency, Wellcome Trust or the UK government".

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi
DEDICATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURESix
LIST OF APPENDICES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxi
DEFINITION OF TERMSxiii
ABSTRACT
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Problem Statement
1.3 Justification of the Study
1.4 General Objective
1.4.1 Specific Objectives4
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Malaria vaccine development
2.2 Current malaria vaccine status
2.3 Life cycle complexity and malaria vaccine development7
2.4 The <i>Plasmodium falciparum</i> life cycle
2.5 Pathogenesis of <i>P. falciparum</i> occurs in the blood stage cycle10
2.6 Naturally acquired immunity (NAI) to clinical malaria11
2.7 Reverse vaccinology and antibody targets discovery13
2.8 Functional genomics and discovery of essential vaccine candidate antigens14
2.9 Recombinant expression of <i>P. falciparum</i> antigens
CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS17
3.1 Study design17
3.2 Ethical Approval

3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Essential Gene Selection
3.3.2 Sequence retrieval and construct design19
3.3.3 Transformation and Plasmid Midiprep20
3.3.4 Restriction digest
3.3.5 PF3D7_1146100 ligation to the expression vector21
3.3.6 Transfection of Expi 293 cells23
3.3.5 Protein purification
3.3.6 SDS PAGE
3.3.7 Western Blot
3.3.8 Indirect ELISA
3.3.9 Statistical analysis
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS
4.1 Construct design
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100antigen30
4.1 Construct design 30 4.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen 30 4.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 required for an optimal reaction with immune sera 32
4.1 Construct design 30 4.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen 30 4.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 required for an optimal reaction with immune sera 32 4.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen 33
4.1 Construct design 30 4.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen 30 4.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 required for an optimal reaction with immune sera 32 4.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen 33 4.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children 34
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen304.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 with immune sera304.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen334.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children344.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen35
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100antigen304.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100required for an optimal reactionwith immune sera324.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen334.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children344.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100antigen354.7 Naturally acquired anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' variation with age36
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100antigen304.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100required for an optimal reactionwith immune sera324.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen334.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children344.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100354.7 Naturally acquired anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' variation with age364.8 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody responses and malaria outcome37
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen304.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 with immune sera304.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen324.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen334.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children344.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen354.7 Naturally acquired anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' variation with age364.8 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody responses and malaria outcome374.9 Malaria outcome and levels of anti-schizont antibodies38
4.1 Construct design304.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100antigen304.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 required for an optimal reactionwith immune sera324.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen334.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children344.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100antigen354.7 Naturally acquired anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' variation with age364.8 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody responses and malaria outcome374.9 Malaria outcome and levels of anti-schizont antibodies.384.10 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' association with protection against clinical malaria39

5.1 Discussion	
5.2 Conclusion	
5.3 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	64

LIST OF TABLES

Table1: Characteristics of the Junju 2014 cohort as obtained from their	epidemiological
data	
Table 2: A Logistic regression analysis summary	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 : The global prevalence of malaria in 2017 (WHO, 2018)2
Figure 2.1: Malaria vaccine candidates in clinical development that target the life cycle
stages of <i>P. falciparum</i> (Adapted from Draper et al. (2018))
Figure 2.2: The <i>P. falciparum</i> life cycle depends on transmission cycle between humans
and Anopheles mosquito (Adapted from Cowman et al. (2017))
Figure 3.1: An illustration of the longitudinal Junju cohort study set up
Figure 3.2: The PF3D7 1146100 gene cassette
Figure 3.3: A plasmid map of the PF3D7 1146100 construct20
Figure 3.4: pTT28 expression vector used for cloning and expression of
PF3D7_114610023
Figure 4.1: A confirmatory digest of the successfully cloned PF3D7_1146100 gene
(indicated by the arrow) in a pTT28 expression vector
Figure 4.2: Characterization of the purified recombinant PF3D7_1146100($\approx 20.3kDa$)
protein as indicated on SDS PAGE (A) and western blot (B) images
Figure 4.3: A titration curve of PF3D7_1146100 protein
Figure 4.4: Antibody levels against native (magenta bars) and heat-treated (orange bars)
PF3D7_1146100 antigen
Figure 4.5: Interaction of antibodies from the children cohort sera with the recombinant
PF3D7_1146100 antigen
Figure 4.6: Antibodies against the recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen increased with
age
Figure 4.7: Variation in anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels between malaria negative
individuals (0) and malaria positive individuals (1)
Figure 4.8: Anti-schizont antibody among malaria positive and disease free individuals.
Figure 4.9: Classification of participants into the low, medium and high tertile based on
their anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels40
Figure 4.10: Influence of tertile classification on the count of malaria clinical episodes
an individual had throughout the follow up

LIST OF APPENDICES

64
65
65
65
67
)14
68
76
78
79
80
81
)

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACT	:	Artemisinin based Combination Therapy
ADCC	:	Antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AMA1	:	Apical membrane antigen 1
APS	:	Ammonium persulfate
cDNA	:	Complementary DNA
CDS	:	Coding sequence
CHMI	:	Controlled Human Malaria Infection
CMV	:	Cytomegalovirus
CSP	:	Cicumsporozoite antigen
DALYs	:	Disability-adjusted-life years
DNA	:	Deoxy ribonucleic acid
DEG	:	Database of Essential Genes
EBA 140	:	Erythrocyte binding antigen 140
EBA 175	:	Erythrocyte binding antigen 175
ELISA	:	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent
GOI	:	Gene of interest
GPI	:	Glycophosphatidyl inositol
GST-DBL 1	α:	Glutathione-S-Transferase- Duffy Binding Like domain 1 α
HEK 293	:	Human Embryonic Kidney cells 293
HIV	:	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IPTi	:	Intermittent Prophylaxis Treatment for infants
IPTp	:	Intermittent Prophylaxis Treatment for pregnant women
iRBCs	:	Infected Red Blood Cells
IRS	:	Indoor Residual Spraying
ITNs	:	Insecticide Treated Bed Nets
KDHSS	:	Kilifi Demographic Health Surveillance System
LB	:	Luria- Bertani

LMICs	:	Low and Middle Income Countries
LSA 3	:	Liver Stage Antigen 3
MSP 1	:	Merozoite Surface Protein 1
MSP 7	:	Merozoite Surface Protein 7
NAI	:	Naturally Acquire Immunity
NEB	:	New England Biolabs
OPA	:	Opsonic phagocytosis assay
PAGE	:	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
PBS	:	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PVDF	:	Polyvinylidene difluoride
RBCs	:	Red Blood Cells
RH 5	:	Reticulocyte binding homolog 5
SERU	:	Scientific Ethical Review Unit
SDS	:	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
SOC	:	Super Optimal Broth with Catabolite Repression
TBST	:	Tris Buffered Saline with Tween 20
TEMED	:	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TLP	:	Tripartite Leader Peptide
TMHMM	:	Transmembrane Helices; Hidden Markov Model
WGCFS	:	Wheat Germ Cell Free System
WHO	:	World Health Organization

DEFINITION OF TERMS

Antigenic polymorphisms refers to allelic or genetic variations at a given gene loci that result in protein forms with distinct antigenic properties in different parasite clones or strains.

Antigenic variation refers to alterations in the phenotype of an antigen as a result of regulated expression of diverse family of genes in a clone of parasites during the natural course of an infection.

Codon bias is the high preference and frequent use of a certain codon that codes for an amino acid in an organism.

Codon optimization is the process of changing the codons of the gene of interest to conform to the codon preference of the organism used for its recombinant expression.

Essential gene is a gene described to be important for growth and survival of an organism through results of its disruption in loss-of-function studies.

Functional genomics involves the use of genomic data to study gene function and host pathogen interaction.

Heterologous expression system is a system in which a protein of interest is produced in an organism that is different from the natural host (origin of the target gene).

Reverse vaccinology is the process of discovering antigens through *in silico* screening of the genomic data encoding a complete antigenic repertoire of an organism.

ABSTRACT

The use of reverse vaccinology in vaccine candidate antigen discovery has led to identification of many *Plasmodium falciparum* novel antigens. Some of these antigens are essential for parasite survival and could be evaluated as targets of protective immunity to clinical malaria that is acquired naturally. Targeting essential antigens identified through functional genomic studies involving loss-of-function, could aid in the development of an effective next generation sub-unit vaccine. For these studies to be successful, the antigens must be expressed in their correctly folded structure in a heterologous expression system. This study aimed at expressing PF3D7 1146100, one of the novel, essential P. falciparum antigens, and assess the protective role of antibodies against it in clinical malaria using sera from a prospective cohort of children (N=343) from Junju, Kilifi, Kenya. PF3D7 1146100 was sub-cloned into pTT28, an expression vector, and transfected into Expi 293F cells for recombinant protein expression. The antigen was purified and characterized using SDS PAGE and Western blotting. Immunogenicity of the recombinant protein and the correlation between its immune responses and protection against clinical malaria was determined using indirect ELISA. In a univariate logistic regression analysis, anti-PF3D7 1146100 antibodies were correlated with protection against clinical malaria at an odds ratio of 0.63(0.42-0.95) at 95% C.I and *p* value=0.027. After adjusting for age and exposure, the odds ratio was 0.73(0.44-1.16) at 95% C.I with a *p-value*=0.176. The essentiality and immunogenicity of this antigen indicates that it is a potential vaccine candidate targeting the blood stage of the parasite. The successful expression of PF3D7 1146100 and its analysis as a target of the immune system, provides a basis for studying other novel essential and conserved antigens. This also provides an opportunity to study its function, a knowledge which could contribute to vaccine and drug development not only against *P. falciparum* but also other *Apicomplexa* organisms

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Malaria is among the world's most common infectious diseases disproportionately affecting poverty-stricken regions within the tropics and sub-tropics. It claims the lives of more than 400,000 individuals with over 200 million cases being reported every year(WHO, 2020). The populations mostly at risk are children aged under five years, HIV infected individuals, pregnant women, travellers, refugees, displaced persons and migrant workers from malaria naïve areas (WHO, 2018). In 2018, the mortality of children between 0 to 5 years accounted for approximately 67% of all the reported deaths due to malaria, with sub Saharan Africa accounting for most of them(WHO, 2019).

The protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium* are the agents causing malaria. Only five *Plasmodium* species are involved in infecting humans: *Plasmodium knowlesi*, *Plasmodium falciparum*, *Plasmodium malariae*, *Plasmodium vivax* and *Plasmodium ovale*. The major parasite causing infection in sub-Saharan Africa is *P.falciparum* and is responsible for over 90% of all reported cases globally (Figure 1.1), hence the attention it has received in the malaria vaccine development research(WHO, 2019).

In the quest to eradicate and eliminate malaria, a number of control strategies have been put in place. Artemisinin based combination therapy (ACTs), indoor residual spraying (IRS) and insecticide treated bed nets (ITNs) among others, have made a major contribution to the reduction in deaths and cases due to malaria (Bhatt et al., 2015). However, the resistance developed by parasites to antimalarial drugs and vectors to insecticides, pose a challenge towards achieving zero malaria. Lack of an effective vaccine has been a drawback to efforts put forward for malaria elimination. In fact, the current licensed vaccine being rolled out in Ghana, Malawi and Kenya demonstrated moderate efficacy at best in Phase III trials (Neafsey et al., 2015; Draper et al., 2018). Furthermore, only a limited number of *P. falciparum* antigens in the erythrocytic stage have been assessed in their protective role against clinical malaria despite the fact that >5400 antigens are encoded in its genome (Tuju et al., 2017). The few that advanced to clinical trial stages, have failed mainly due to their antigenic polymorphisms and variations. Antigenic polymorphisms induce strain specific immunity against clinical malaria which does not protect an individual from infection by other strains. There is therefore a need for discovery of novel targets of protective anti-malarial immunity that are less polymorphic and essential for parasite survival. Assessing the role of the novel recombinant antigens in naturally acquired immunity to malaria will hasten their prioritization and validation as vaccine candidates.



Figure 1.1 : The global prevalence of malaria in 2017 (WHO, 2018)

1.2 Problem Statement

The rising cost of malaria intervention and poverty resulting from malaria case management, calls for development of an effective malaria sub-unit vaccine (El-Houderi et al., 2019; Haakenstad et al., 2019; Winskill et al., 2019). Reverse vaccinology has enabled the identification of many novel antigens that have a potential of being vaccine candidates (Doolan et al., 2008; Crompton et al., 2010; Trieu et al., 2011; Davies et al., 2015; Kamuyu et al., 2018). Gene knock-out studies have also been done to identify proteins/ antigens essential for parasite survival especially in the invasion of host cells and tissues (Zhang et al., 2018). To date, the application of these two strategies in identifying novel essential *P. falciparum* antigens that have a potential of being vaccine candidates, and even assessing their role in the context of naturally acquired immunity, has not been explored. Targeting these antigens for vaccine development could help overcome the constraint posed by antigenic polymorphisms.

1.3 Justification of the Study

Passively transferred antibodies from individuals immune to malaria residing in the Gambia, were able to eliminate parasitemia and clinical symptoms in West and East African children as well as Thai adults suffering from malaria (Cohen et al., 1961; McGregor et al., 1963; Sabchareon et al., 1991). This indicates that these antibodies could be targeting parasite proteins that have limited polymorphisms (Bull and Marsh, 2002; Duffy et al., 2005; Doolan et al., 2009). Targeting multiple and highly conserved antigens as vaccine candidates could overcome the constraint of antigenic polymorphisms currently observed in blood stage vaccine candidates, which contribute to their failure in clinical trials (Draper et al., 2018). Reticulocyte binding homolog 5 (RH5), a recent blood stage vaccine candidate in the making, is highly conserved, essential for parasite survival and has been shown to illicit a strain transcending immunity to some *P. falciparum* strains (Douglas et al., 2011; Douglas et al., 2015).

Exposure to multiple antigens has been linked with protection against malaria and that antibodies against them, do work in synergy (Osier et al., 2008; Osier et al., 2014b; Bustamante et al., 2017). A vaccine made up of multiple conserved proteins will help alleviate the malaria burden majorly felt in sub-Saharan Africa and reduce the mortality of the most susceptible populations (Plowe et al., 2009; Tanner et al., 2015).

1.4 General Objective

To assess the role of recombinant PF3D7_1146100; a novel, essential *P. falciparum* vaccine candidate antigen in naturally acquired immunity to malaria

1.4.1 Specific Objectives

- To optimize the recombinant expression of PF3D7_1146100 in Expi 293 F cells, a mammalian system.
- 2. To evaluate the association between immune responses to the recombinant antigen and protection against clinical malaria.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Malaria vaccine development

As mentioned earlier, the heavy Falciparum malaria's burden is highly felt in sub-Saharan Africa(WHO, 2019). Every hour, malaria claims the lives of 30 children aged five years and below. Although the control measures put in place have had a positive impact towards reduction in malaria transmission, they have been faced with the challenge of resistance developed by both the vector and the parasite (Dhiman, 2019). In addition, the cost incurred in the deployment of these interventions to every individual residing in malaria endemic areas is estimated to be US\$ 6.6 billion(WHO, 2019). In comparison to what was spent in 2016, the cost of malaria intervention is on the rise (Winskill et al., 2019). Taking a look at malaria case management in malaria prone areas especially in sub-Saharan Africa, malaria has impoverished many families through high out-of-pocket expenditure on treatment and loss of income resulting from absence at work (El-Houderi et al., 2019; Haakenstad et al., 2019). As a result, there is an urgency to develop a malaria vaccine that is effective.

Vaccines have been evidenced to be the most efficient and economical public health interventions able to eradicate and eliminate an infectious disease (Rappuoli, 2000; Bustreo et al., 2015; Zerhouni, 2019). Through vaccination, in 1987, the world was declared small pox free, and polio, bacterial and other viral diseases have been controlled (Berkley, 2019; Zerhouni, 2019). Apart from contributing to improved population health, mathematical models have shown the impact of vaccines on the reduction (in millions) of deaths and disability-adjusted-life years (DALYs)) and the number of medical impoverished cases in low and middle income countries (LMICs) (Chang et al., 2018; Li et al., 2021).

2.2 Current malaria vaccine status

To date, RTS,S/AS01B that consists of the central repeat and C-terminal epitopes of the circumsporozoite (CSP) antigen, is the most advanced of all malaria vaccine candidates. It is undergoing implementation trials in children in Malawi, Ghana and Kenya, despite its modest efficacy which wanes with time (Neafsey et al., 2015; Draper et al., 2018; Frimpong et al., 2018). It does not meet the threshold outlined in the WHO Malaria Vaccine Roadmap of 2030 which requires a vaccine to have a protective efficacy of > 75% against clinical malaria, and reduce incidences of malaria infection by lowering the transmission rates (Chatterjee and Cockburn, 2021). Consequently, the search for an effective malaria vaccine which could be used together with or improve the efficacy of RTS,S remains a priority. It is thought that such a vaccine would be multi-component and multi-stage. This could prevent malaria and block transmission by preventing the invasion and replication of merozoites in red blood cells (Chauhan et al., 2010; Draper et al., 2018).

The feasibility of a malaria vaccine is based on two models (Hoffman 1998). The first one is an observation in nature where adults residing in malaria endemic regions have developed protection against malaria resulting from multiple and recurrent exposure to *P. falciparum* over a long period of time (Cohen, 1979; Marsh, 1992; Doolan et al., 2009). This protection attributed to naturally acquired immunity (NAI), majorly mediated by antibodies, is effective against high parasite density, death and clinical malaria (Richards and Beeson, 2009). The other basis is the development of sterile and lasting immunity observed in animal and human challenge models in which healthy participants were infected with attenuated sporozoites and merozoites (Hoffman et al., 1998; Duffy et al., 2005; Stanisic et al., 2018).

2.3 Life cycle complexity and malaria vaccine development

Malaria vaccine development has proved to be challenging due the antigenic complexity of P. falciparum (Anders, 2011) whose genome encodes > 5400 antigens which are differentially expressed in the different lifecycle stages(Gardner 2002) taking place in the female anopheles mosquito (sexual stages) and the human host (asexual stages). Due to this, sub-unit vaccine approaches have been classified into the life cycle stages that they do target (Vaccines, 2011). To prevent liver stage infection, pre-erythrocytic vaccines are being developed that target sporozoites. As the fatality of the disease is manifested at the blood stage cycle of P. falciparum, blood stage vaccines aim to prevent red blood cell (RBC) invasion, clinical disease and development of sexual stages that infect mosquitos. A successful vaccine targeting this stage will help reduce the mortality and morbidity of children aged below five years in areas that are highly prone to malaria (Hoffman et al., 1998; Stowers et al., 2001). Transmission blocking vaccines aim to break the transmission cycle by targeting gametocytes and mosquito stages. There are suggestions on developing a multi stage vaccine which could be effective against all the P. falciparum life cycle stages (Draper et al., 2018). Figure 2.1 shows the vaccine candidates that target *P. falciparum* life cycle stages.



Figure 2.1: Malaria vaccine candidates in clinical development that target the life cycle stages of *P. falciparum* (Adapted from Draper et al. (2018))

2.4 The Plasmodium falciparum life cycle

A complete *P. falciparum's* life cycle is dependent on two different hosts: the definitive host or vector, which is the female Anopheles mosquito, and an intermediate host that is a vertebrate. It is in the female Anopheles mosquito where the sexual stages take place while the asexual stages occur in the vertebrate host, the human.

In the human host, the asexual life cycle of *P. falciparum* is commenced by an infectious mosquito bite where haploid sporozoite stages are injected in to the skin and migrate to the liver (Doolan et al., 2009; Cowman et al., 2017). They traverse the kuppfer cells and

invade the hepatocytes where they establish an infection (Cowman and Crabb, 2006; Doolan et al., 2009; Cowman et al., 2017). In the hepatocytes, sporozites are transformed into liver stages or exoerythrocytic forms. They undergo replication and after an incubation period of approximately 7 days, each infected hepatocyte releases up to forty thousand merozoites in to the bloodstream through the budding of merosomes (Doolan et al., 2009; Nilsson et al., 2015; Cowman et al., 2016).

The red blood cells (RBCs) that are in circulation are invaded by the released merozoites, initiating the repetitive blood stage cycle. This 48 hour cycle begins with the ring stage followed by the trophozoite stage and finally the schizont stage where merozoites undergo mitotic division in to 16-32 daughter merozoites (Doolan et al., 2009; Nilsson et al., 2015). These merozoites lyse the parasitized RBCs and egress initiating another blood stage cycle. This triggers the manifestation of malaria clinical symptoms due to the rupture of both infected and uninfected RBCs, and cytoadherence of infected RBCs in the vasculature and major organs evading their circulation which protects them from splenic clearance (Richards and Beeson, 2009; Boddey and Cowman, 2013). During the progression of the blood stage cycle, some trophozoites develop in to male and female gametocytes and move into the extracellular space of the bone marrow. Once in the bone marrow they undergo development through stage I-V which then move back into the peripheral blood and are ready to infect female anopheles mosquitos when they take up a blood meal(Nilsson et al., 2015).

In the mosquito midgut, the female and male gametocytes mature into female and male gametes, a process denoted as gametogenesis. The male gametes divide and undergo exflagellation to form up to 8 flagellated microgametes while only one macrogamete is formed from the female gamete (Cowman and Crabb, 2006; Nilsson et al., 2015). Fertilization takes place and a zygote is formed which undergoes meiosis and differentiates in to an invasive form, the ookinete and crosses the midgut epithelium, developing into an oocyst on the basal lamina (Doolan et al., 2009; Boddey and

Cowman, 2013). Sporogony takes place in the oocyst in which the parasite undergoes mitosis forming thousands of sporozoites which are released upon its rupture (Cowman and Crabb, 2006; Doolan et al., 2009; Nilsson et al., 2015). The haploid sporozoites migrate to the mosquito salivary glands ready to progress to the asexual stages when a parasitized mosquito bites its vertebrate host (Cowman and Crabb, 2006). Figure 2.2 shows the *P. falciparum's* life cycle.



Figure 2.2: The *P. falciparum* life cycle depends on transmission cycle between humans and Anopheles mosquito (Adapted from Cowman et al. (2017))

2.5 Pathogenesis of *P. falciparum* occurs in the blood stage cycle

The pathogenesis of *P. falciparum* is mainly observed at the blood stage where schizonts burst and release merozoites that invade other RBCs resulting in their exponential increase. The release of the erythrocytic material and malaria parasites into blood triggers the pathophysiology process and onset of malaria symptoms due to the activation of the cytokine cascade (Cowman et al., 2016). RBC invasion is a very crucial step for *P. falciparum* hence its rapid and efficient entry has been the driver of its

evolution (Cowman and Crabb, 2006). Consequently, the parasite takes advantage of its highly polymorphic surface antigens and redundant RBC invasion pathways to accomplish the evasion of host's immune system.

Once the parasite gains entry into RBC, it modifies it to suit its development and survival as it acts as a source of nutrients and enables the parasite's evasion of the host immune system (Boddey and Cowman, 2013). This immune escape mechanism results from *P. falciparum* exporting proteins to the surface of infected RBCs (iRBCs) (Cowman et al., 2016) that enable cells to adhere to the vasculature and sequester in other organs to avoid clearance by the splenic macrophages, a process called cytoadherence (Boddey and Cowman, 2013). Accordingly, it results in cerebral malaria (Duffy et al., 2005), a severe syndrome that is the cause of mortality in children and which affects their cognitive development. iRBCs attract other non-infected RBCs, a process known as rossetting and are both cleared by the immune system resulting in severe malarial anaemia. Severe malarial syndromes are prevalent in children aged below five years due to the slow rate at which immunity to malaria is acquired naturally.

2.6 Naturally acquired immunity (NAI) to clinical malaria

In areas where malaria is endemic, individuals do develop immunity to the disease, a phenomenon which most blood stage vaccines being developed aim to mimic (Hoffman et al., 1998). This however, is due to the multiple and repeated exposure to *P. falciparum*. In the erythrocytic stage, naturally acquired immunity is majorly mediated by antibodies due to the brief exposure of merozoites to the immune system before gaining entry into RBCs (Cohen et al., 1961; Cohen et al., 1969). The antibodies' role in immunity against clinical malaria was shown by Cohen and colleagues by treating children suffering from malaria with purified gamma immunoglobulins obtained from malaria immune adults in the Gambia (Cohen et al., 1961). Their results were supported

by passive transfer studies in children and adults with clinical malaria from East Africa and Thailand respectively (McGregor et al., 1963; Sabchareon et al., 1991).

Acquisition of NAI is dependent on age and exposure (Cohen, 1979; Marsh et al., 1989; Baird, 1995). In malaria risk areas, children aged below five years are susceptible to malaria due to lack of immunity resulting from little or no exposure to *P. falciparum*, coupled to an immature immune system (Baird, 1995). Adults acquire partial immunity from clinical malaria due to development of long lived plasma cells that produce antibodies able to recognise the strains which they have been exposed to in their entire life time (Baird, 1995; Akpogheneta et al., 2008). The long-term exposure to *P. falciparum* of individuals in areas of malaria endemicity, protects them from the diverse strains of *P.falciparum* through acquisition of cross-reactive and strain specific antibodies (Osier et al., 2010; Rono et al., 2013). The stability and intensity of exposure to *P. falciparum*, however, affects the acquisition rate of immunity to severe and mild malaria (Gupta et al., 1999; Marsh and Kinyanjui, 2006). In areas of high malaria transmission, the acquisition of anti-disease immunity is rapid.

In conferring protection against clinical malaria, antibodies block merozoites from invading the RBCs preventing the blood stage cycle of *P. falciparum* from taking place. They also opsonize merozoites for phagocytosis, induce the antibody dependent cellular inhibition mechanisms and complement activation (Cohen et al., 1969; Bouharoun-Tayoun et al., 1990; McCallum et al., 2008; Osier et al., 2014a). To perform their function, they target antigens that the parasite secretes or expresses on its surface, some of which facilitate the invasion of RBCs (Osier et al., 2014b). This makes NAI a suitable model for prioritizing potential vaccine candidates that are known or predicted for development of vaccines (Richards and Beeson, 2009; Fowkes et al., 2010). A major challenge to prioritization and validation of vaccine candidates using this model has been the conflicting findings of epidemiological studies on the protective effect of naturally acquired antibodies (Fowkes et al., 2010), despite being proposed as correlates

of protection . It is still not clear which of the > 5400 P. *falciparum* antigens could be targets of protective antibodies (Tuju et al., 2017) as the definition of protection from clinical malaria in cohort studies, has been a challenge (Marsh and Kinyanjui, 2006).

2.7 Reverse vaccinology and antibody targets discovery

Very few *P. falciparum* antigens, (~ 22), have been under evaluation in clinical trial studies. Of these vaccine candidates, 82% were discovered during the pre-genomic error (Tuju et al., 2017). The advances in high throughput technologies in the omics era have enabled generation of data (Carucci, 2002; Doolan et al., 2014), used in the discovery of novel *P. falciparum* antigens that have a potential of being vaccine candidates. The genome is viewed as an 'entry' of antigens expressed by a parasite hence containing the necessary information for vaccine development (Rappuoli, 2000). Reverse vaccinology takes advantage of the available computer programs that scrutinize genomic data for presence of features that characterize potential vaccine candidates. These features constitute signal peptides, transmembrane domains, glycophosphatidyl anchors, export signals and adhesive properties (Sette and Rappuoli, 2010).

Genomic data has been utilized in various ways. For instance, Mu and colleagues employed genome-wide population genetics on the *P. falciparum* genomic data and identified potential novel vaccine candidates under balancing selection (Mu et al., 2007). P48/45 antigen, a potential candidate for transmission-blocking vaccine in *P. falciparum*, was identified through functional comparative genomics as the disruption of its homologue in *P. berghei* showed that it plays a role in the fertility of male gametes (van Dijk et al., 2001). Through structural bioinformatics, P27A, was discovered and was able to induce protective antibodies facilitating its formulation as a peptide vaccine for clinical trials (Villard et al., 2007).

Novel vaccine antigens that are stage specific have also been identified through *in silico* analysis of transcriptomic data (Aguiar et al., 2004; Trieu et al., 2011; Davies et al., 2015). In their study, Zenonos et al. (2014) established the transcription patterns of 4 well-studied merozoite vaccine candidates which include: RH5, EBA 140, EBA 175 and AMA 1. Using this expression pattern, function prediction and domain mapping on *P. falciparum* transcriptomic data, 14 putative antigens were identified.

2.8 Functional genomics and discovery of essential vaccine candidate antigens

The functional genomics data obtained from genome-wide saturation mutagenesis of the *P. falciparum* blood stage, can be utilized in identifying not only drug targets, but also vaccine candidates. Zhang and colleagues identified antigens that were essential for *P.falciparum* viability (Zhang et al., 2018). Most of the vaccine candidates in clinical trials were shown to be dispensable for parasite's survival (Zhang et al., 2018), a possible explanation of their high polymorphisms and failure to proceed in clinical trial stages. Using reverse vaccinology, potential vaccine candidate antigens that are essential and conserved in the parasite's blood stage have been identified and await pre-clinical validation. Other studies have identified essential and conserved vaccine candidates and drug targets through *in silico* prediction of antigen essentiality to the parasite and using the database of essential genes (DEG) (Vilela Rodrigues et al., 2019; Rout et al., 2015).

2.9 Recombinant expression of P. falciparum antigens

Pre-clinical evaluation of both known and novel potential vaccine candidate antigens necessitates their expression in heterologous systems (Tuju et al., 2017; Crosnier et al., 2013), since sufficient amounts cannot be isolated from the parasite despite their superiority in structure and immunogenicity (Fernandez-Robledo and Vasta, 2010). Recombinant proteins, therefore, must be expressed in their native conformation with post-translational modifications mimicking the organism's native protein, as this is a key determinant of immunogenicity (Stowers et al., 2001; Fernandez-Robledo and Vasta,

2010; Cowan et al., 2014). Attempts to express *P. falciparum* antigens in heterologous systems has met technical difficulty that has posed a challenge to understanding not only the function of novel antigens, but also their assessment as vaccine candidates.

The genome of *P. falciparum* is A-T rich (~ 80%) (Gardner et al., 2002), a feature that has been implicated in the difficulty encountered in recombinant expression of its antigens due to the codon usage incompatibility. In addition, high molecular weight of its proteins (> 56 kDa) and low complexity regions made up of repetitive amino acids also contribute to low or lack of heterologous expression (Birkholtz et al., 2008; Vedadi et al., 2007; Mehlin et al., 2006). Other features that have been shown to impact negatively on expression include: signal peptides, transit peptides, transmembrane domains and Plasmodium export signal (PEXEL) motifs (Crosnier et al., 2013; Vedadi et al., 2007; Mehlin et al., 2006).

To date, a number of heterologous systems including bacteria (Salinas et al., 2019; Singh et al., 2018; Aguiar et al., 2015; Reddy et al., 2014; Vedadi et al., 2007; Mehlin et al., 2006), yeast (Milek et al., 2000; Stowers et al., 2001), protozoa (Reymond et al., 1995; van Bemmelen et al., 2000; Cowan et al., 2014), plants (Ghosh et al., 2002), cell free systems (Oda-Yokouchi et al., 2019; Ito et al., 2019; Tsuboi et al., 2008; Doolan et al., 2008; Mu et al., 2007), and mammalian cells (Kamuyu et al., 2018; Zenonos et al., 2014; Crosnier et al., 2013) have been explored in the expression of *P. falciparum* antigens.

Due to the low cost of production, scalability and the ease of genetic manipulation, *E. coli* has been the most preferred heterologous system. However, most proteins expressed by *E. coli* are not soluble requiring refolding procedures. Many studies have reported difficulty in expressing full-length ecto-domains (Aguiar et al., 2015; Vedadi et al., 2007; Mehlin et al., 2006) in *E.coli*, contrary to Reddy and colleagues who expressed a full-length *P. falciparum* RH5 protein (Reddy et al., 2014). Cell free systems, especially

the wheat germ cell free system (WGCFS), are being highly explored despite the expression of recombinant proteins taking place in a reducing environment which negatively impacts protein folding. On the other hand, mammalian cells enable the expression of full-length ecto-domains in their soluble and native conformation (Kamuyu et al., 2018; Zenonos et al., 2014; Crosnier et al., 2013). Since a correctly folding protein is able to interact with other proteins, Crosnier et al. (2013) showed the MSP1-MSP7, EBA175–Glycophorin C and EBA140-Glycophorin A protein interactions after the recombinant expression of the antigens in HEK 293 cells. These protein-protein interactions are usually exploited by the parasite when invading RBCs. The low protein expression levels and high cost of production of this system has resulted in their slow adoption (Fernandez-Robledo and Vasta, 2010; Birkholtz et al., 2008).

CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study design

This was a study conducted in Junju, a village in Kilifi sub-county, Kilifi County in Kenya which is within the Kilifi Demographic Health and Surveillance System (KDHSS). In this area, peak malaria transmission is experienced in two seasons (May to July and November to December). This study is part of a long-term longitudinal immunological cohort set up to identify immune correlates of malaria. Briefly, in May 2014 (before the season of malaria transmission began), a cross-sectional bleed was done and children (N=343) were followed up for one year where cases of clinical episodes of malaria were actively and passively detected. To monitor the episodes of malaria, the participants were visited every week in their homes (as illustrated in Figure 3.1), where temperature was recorded. In children with fever, parasitemia was checked by examining thick and thin blood smears using light microscopy and malaria rapid diagnostic test (MRDT). Individuals with fever resulting from parasitemia was a fever (an auxiliary temperature >37.5 $^{\circ}$ C) with a parasite density of 2500/µl of blood.

Antibody levels to a specific antigen measured using ELISA at the beginning of the malaria season, were used to infer a correlation with protection against clinical malaria in the first six months of follow-up.



Figure 3.1: An illustration of the longitudinal Junju cohort study set up.

Cross sectional bleed done in May (2014), a month before the onset of a malaria season in Junju village, Kilifi sub-county. The participants were followed up for one year to detect malaria cases. Antigen specific antibodies present prior to the malaria transmission season were used to determine correlation with protection against malaria in the first six months of follow up.

3.2 Ethical Approval

The ethical approval of this study was obtained from the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) Scientific Ethical Review Unit (SERU) with protocol number SCC3139.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Essential Gene Selection

PF3D7 1146100 was selected through combining dataset from PhenoPlasm (Functional genomics) database and PlasmoDB (for Reverse vaccinology). PhenoPlasm database contains information on P. falciparum gene knockout or genetic manipulation experiments while PlasmoDB contains integrated data on genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics of Plasmodium species. PF3D7 1146100 antigen was prioritized for evaluation in the laboratory since it is small in size, ~20.3 KDa (easy to clone and express), had never been expressed and studied as a target of protective immunity to malaria before. Briefly, a query was submitted in PlasmoDB database (https://plasmodb.org/) using PF3D7 1146100, its gene identifier. Transmembrane

domain, signal peptide or a glycophosphatidly inositol (GPI) anchor presence was used to determine whether it was an exported or a surface protein.

3.3.2 Sequence retrieval and construct design

The ectodomain region spanning amino acid 20 to 175 was selected for expression. SignalP 4.1 Server (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP-4.1/) was used to check for signal peptide presence. For transmembrane domain, the TMHMM Server 2.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/TMHMM/) was used to determine whether it was present. Sites for N-glycosylation were predicted using NetNGlyc 1.0 Server (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/NetNGlyc/).Codon optimization of the ectodomain for expression in human cells was done. Unique Nhe I and Bam HI recognition sites were flanked to the 5' and 3' ends of the ectodomain respectively to enable cloning in pTT28 expression vector (Figure 3.2). Following its design, the construct was synthesized by a commercial gene synthesis provider, InvitrogenTM GeneArtTM and contained an ampicillin resistance gene, AmpR, which was used for selection (Figure 3.3).

PF3D7 1146100 gene



Figure 3.2: The PF3D7_1146100 gene cassette.

The predicted signal peptide constitutes the first 19 amino acids (yellow) and an ectodomain spanning the 20th to the 175th amino acid (red). Nhe I (purple) and Bam HI (blue) sites are flanked on the ectodomain to facilitate cloning in to the expression vector.



Figure 3.3: A plasmid map of the PF3D7_1146100 construct

The plasmid contains an AmpR gene for selection using ampicillin and Col E1 origin which is enables the replication of the plasmid by *E. coli* bacteria (pMA-T vector adapted from <u>https://www.thermofisher.com</u>)

3.3.3 Transformation and Plasmid Midiprep

One hundred microliters of TE buffer was used to resuspend 5 µg of the lyophilized PF3D7_1146100 gene construct and vortexed for 1 minute. Addition of plasmid DNA, at a volume of 2 ul, to 25 µl of competent Top 10 *E.coli* cells (Invitrogen) was done. This mixture was incubated on ice for 30 minutes then rapidly transferred to a waterbath for 30 seconds at 42°C, after which it was incubated again on ice for 2 minutes. 250 µl of Super Optimal Broth with Catabolite Repression (SOC) media (at a temperature of 37 °C) was added to the heat-shocked cells followed by a 1 hour incubation while shaking at 200 rpm after which they were incubated overnight at 37 °C/180rpm in 300ml of LB broth with ampicillin in New Brunswick ScientificTM InnovaTM 42 incubator shaker

(Eppendorf, USA). After harvesting *E.coli* cells, Qiagen midiprep kit was used in the extraction of plasmid DNA as per the instruction of the manufacturer.

3.3.4 Restriction digest

Half a microliter each of NheI HF and BamHI HF (New England Biolabs (NEB)) restriction enzymes (whose recognition sequences are 5'-GCTAGC-3' and 5'-GGATCC-3'respectively) were added to 10 µl of PF3D7_1146100 plasmid construct, 2 µl of 10X cutsmart buffer (NEB). To make the mixture to a volume of 20 µl, 7 µl of DNAse/RNAse free water was added. Incubation was done overnight at 37 °C. The reaction mixture was resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel containing redsafe DNA stain at 100V. Smart ladder (Eurogentec), a DNA marker that separates into bands ranging from 200-10000 base pairs, was used. ChemiDoc MP system (Bio-Rad) was used to visualize the agarose gel. The band with the expected molecular size was cut out from the gel and gel extraction performed using the QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen) as per the instruction of the manufacturer. NanoDrop 2000 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) was used to quantify the DNA extracted from the gel. The same restriction enzymes were used for expression vector digestion to facilitate sub-cloning of the Gene of Interest (GOI) downstream of the mouse IgG kappa signal peptide and upstream of its hexa histidine tag.

3.3.5 PF3D7 1146100 ligation to the expression vector

The amount of insert DNA required for the ligation reaction was calculated using the NEBiocalculator (http://nebiocalculator.neb.com). Using an expression vector (Figure 3.4) that is 4445 base pairs (bp) in size at a mass of 50 ng and a 468 bp length of GOI at a 3:1 insert/vector molar ratio, the amount of the required insert DNA was 15.79 ng. Briefly, 50 ng of expression vector was combined with 15.79 ng of the insert DNA and the reaction volume topped up using distilled water to 10 μ l. To the vector-DNA mix, 2X quick ligation buffer (NEB) at a volume of 10 μ l was added followed by 1 μ l of
quick ligase. The tube containing the reaction mixture was gently tapped after which the mix was incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Using this reaction mix, competent Top 10 *E.coli* cells were transformed as in section 3.3.3 and plated on LB-agar containing 100 μ g/ml of ampicillin, and incubated overnight at 37 °C. After incubation, eight colonies per plate were selected randomly and inoculated into 3 ml of LB broth supplemented with ampicillin and incubated at 37 °C overnight. Plasmid extraction was done from 1.5 ml culture from each colony using the plasmid miniprep extraction kit (Promega) as per the instructions of the manufacturer. Nhe1 HF and Bam H1 HF restriction enzymes were used to digest the extracted plasmids as described in section 3.3.4. If ligation was successful, two bands of 4445 bp and 468 bp were to be observed. If not, only a single band would be observed at 4445 bp. Colonies observed to contain the GOI were grown in 400 ml of LB-Broth. Following overnight incubation, plasmid extraction from *E.coli* was done using the Qiagen maxiprep kit (Qiagen) as per the instructions of the manufacture kit plasmid plasmid extracted plasmid from *E.coli* was done using the Qiagen maxiprep kit (Qiagen) as per the instructions of the manufacture. TE buffer was used to resuspend the extracted plasmids prior to quantification using NanoDrop.



Figure 3.4: pTT28 expression vector used for cloning and expression of PF3D7_1146100 pTT28 contains a human cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter, tripartite leader peptide (TLP), multiple cloning sites, a histidine tag, polyadenylation signal and an ampicillin resistance gene among others. PF3D7_1146100 was cloned downstream of the signal peptide and upstream of the histidine tag sequence (pTT vector derived from Durocher et al. (2002)).

3.3.6 Transfection of Expi 293 cells

The plasmid DNA isolated in section 3.3.5, were transfected using the Expi293TM *Expression System* Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) as per the manufacturers' instructions. Briefly, Expi 293TM cells were diluted to 3.0 x 10⁶ cells/ml with 100ml of Expi293TM media following the determination of cell count and viability using an automated cell counter. Into 5 ml of Opti-MEMTM media, 264 µl of ExpifectamineTM 293 Reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) was diluted and incubated for 5 mins. To

5 ml of Opti-MEMTM Medium, 100 μg of DNA (0.5-5μg/μl) was added and incubated for 5 min too. DNA and ExpiFectamineTM 293 Reagent were mixed gently and incubated at room temperature for 20 min. The DNA reagent complex was added gently to the cells while swirling and incubated for 16-18 hours at 37 ⁰C, 8% CO₂ and 125 rpm in a New BrunswickTM shaker incubator (Eppendorf, USA). A volume of 500 µl and 5 ml of ExpiFectamineTM 293 transfection enhancer 1 and ExpiFectamineTM 293 transfection enhancer 2 was added respectively to the cells. The cells were incubated for 4 days at 37 ⁰C, 8% CO₂ and 125 rpm in a New BrunswickTM shaker incubator (Eppendorf, USA). Cells were pelleted and the culture supernatant stored at 4⁰C.

3.3.5 Protein purification

The ProBondTM Purification System (InvitrogenTM, USA) was used to purify recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen from the culture supernatant. Briefly, 300 μ l of ProBondTM Nickel-Chelating resin (InvitrogenTM, USA) was resuspended in distilled water and centrifuged at 514 x g (in a fixed rotor) for 5 minutes using Centrifuge 5810 R (Eppendorf, USA) and the supernatant discarded. The pelleted resin was resuspended in 100 μ l of native binding buffer (10 mM Imidazole, 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 8.0) and added to 50 ml of culture supernatant containing 1 mM of Nickel II chloride (1 M). The mixture was incubated with agitation at 4 ^oC for 1 hour and transferred to purification columns where the resin settled by gravity and the supernatant aspirated and stored at 4 ^oC. The resin was washed 6 times with 5 ml of native wash buffer (20 mM Imidazole, 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 8.0). Protein elution was done four times using 300 μ l of native elution buffer (250 mM Imidazole, 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 8.0).

3.3.6 SDS PAGE

Following protein purification, proteins were separated based on molecular weight using SDS Poly Acrylamide Gel Electrophoresis. In order to linearize the protein, gels were

run under reducing and denaturing conditions. Briefly, 14 % Separating gel was prepared by adding 2.5 ml of stock solution A (48 ml 1M HCl, 36.3 g Tris, 0.23 ml TEMED and distilled water to 100 ml), 4.7 ml stock solution C (Protogel TM) and distilled water to 10 ml and poured into a gel cassette. Isopropanol at 50 % (v/v) was overlaid on the gel until it polymerised. Isopropanol was removed and stacking gel poured above the separating gel. Stacking gel was prepared by adding 0.95 ml of stock solution B (48 ml 1 M HCl, 6.0 g Tris, 0.48 ml TEMED and distilled water to 100 ml), 1.25 ml of stock solution C and 5.0 ml distilled water. A volume of 10 µl loading dye was added to 10 µl of sample and incubated for 10 min at 100 0 C on a thermoblock (Eppendorf, USA). In the first well, 6 µl of RainbowTM marker- Full range (AmershamTM) was loaded, followed by 6 µl of Benchmark His-tagged protein standard (Thermo Fisher, USA) and 10 µl of sample in the second and third wells respectively. Electrophoresis was done at 100 V for 120 minutes and the gel incubated in instant blue dye (Expedeon Ltd, UK) overnight with agitation.

3.3.7 Western Blot

The his-tagged recombinant protein transfer to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was done by Western blotting for detection with antihis antibodies. Briefly, PVDF membrane was activated in methanol for 1 minute, washed with water and placed in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 20 % (v/v) methanol). The transfer stack was placed in a cassette (BioRad Mini Trans-BlotTM System) and proteins transferred at 100 V for 1 hour with tank placed on ice. The membrane was blocked at room temperature for one hour using 5 % (w/v) blotto (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) in Tris Buffered Saline with Tween 20 (TBST) followed by washing with TBST buffer 5 times for 6 min each with agitation on a shaker. Conjugated antibody was added to the membrane in the ratio of 1: 5000 blotto for 1 hour. A volume of 3ml substrate was added in the dark and an image obtained using the gel imager (Bio-Rad laboratories Inc, USA).

3.3.8 Indirect ELISA

The recombinant antigen's immunogenicity, coating concentration and evaluation of immune responses to it were determined using indirect ELISA.

3.3.8.1 Determination of PF3D7 1146100 coating concentration and schizont ELISA To determine the coating concentration of PF3D7 1146100, a Dynex 4HBX immunolon ELISA plate was coated with 100 µl of a two-fold serially diluted recombinant protein in coating buffer (15mM Na2CO3, 35mM NaHCO3, pH 9.4). The coating concentration ranged from 48 µg/ml to 0.01µg/ml respectively. For schizont ELISA, 100 µl of schizont extract at a dilution of 1: 8000 in coating buffer, was coated per well of the Dynex 4HBX immunolon ELISA plates. The plates were incubated at 4 ⁰C overnight. Following incubation, each well of the plates was washed with wash buffer (0.05 % Tween 20 in 1X PBS) at a volume of 200 µl five times, and blocked at room temperature for 5 hours using blocking buffer (1 % skimmed milk in washing buffer). Again, washing of the plates was done as above. For coating concentration determination, 100 µl of positive and negative controls diluted in coating buffer at 1:200 were added. The positive and negative controls are pooled hyperimmune sera (PHIS) acquired from adults immune to malaria residing in Kilifi and sera from malaria naïve adults in Europe respectively. To the plates coated with schizont extract, 100 µl of serum samples diluted in coating buffer at 1:1000 was added to the respective well. Plates were incubated at 4 ⁰C overnight. After washing five times as above, addition of 100µl of rabbit polyclonal anti-human IgG with a horseradish peroxidase conjugate (Dako) diluted in blocking buffer at 1:5000, to each well was done. Plates were then incubated at room temperature for 3 hours. After washing, 100 µl of o- phenylenediamine dichloride (OPD) (Sigma) was added per well and the plates developed by 15 minutes of incubation in the dark and at room temperature. To stop the reaction, 25 µl of 2 M sulphuric acid was added in each well. Using an ELISA plate reader, optical density readings were taken at 492 nm.

3.3.8.2 Determination of PF3D7_1146100 epitopes and anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels

To find out the epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7 1146100, 400 µl of the protein diluted in coating buffer to a final concentration of 1.5 ug/ml was heated at 98 °C for 15 minutes. A Dynex 4HBX immunolon ELISA plate was coated with 50 µl of heat-treated and native PF3D7 1146100 in each of the 12 wells. To determine anti-PF3D7 1146100 antibody levels in sera, 50 µl of the antigen diluted in coating buffer as above, was used to coat each well of the Dynex 4HBX immunolon ELISA plates. After incubating the plates for five hours at 4 °C, they were washed as described in section 3.3.8.1 above and blocked using 5% skimmed milk in wash buffer for 3 hours at 37 °C. To the ELISA plate coated with heat-treated and native PF3D7 1146100, malaria immunoglobulins (MIG) and naïve sera were diluted at 1:200 in blocking buffer and 100 µl of MIG, naïve sera and blocking buffer added to the wells respectively. For the PF3D7 1146100 ELISA, 100 µl of serum samples at a 1:200 dilution in blocking buffer was added to every well. The plates were incubated overnight at 4 ^oC after which they were washed and rabbit polyclonal anti-human IgG at a volume of 100 µl added per well. The secondary antibody was diluted 1:5000 in blocking buffer. The plates were incubated again at 37 ^oC for 2 hours. Following incubation and washing, 100 µl of OPD substrate was added to each well and incubated for 17 minutes in the dark, at room temperature. To stop this reaction, 25 µl of 2 M sulphuric acid was used and readings taken using the ELISA plate reader at 492 nm.

3.3.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done in R, version 3.5.2 (2018-12-20) using R statistical packages: ggplot2, ggbeeswarm, ggpubr and ggiraphExtra (Kassambara, 2019; Team, 2018; Moon, 2018; Clarke and Sherrill-Mix, 2017). Non-parametric statistical tests were adopted since antibody responses for the cohort of children did not follow a normal distribution. Wilcoxon rank-sum test was explored in assessing the statistical

significance of the differences in median anti-PF3D7_1146100 and anti-schizont antibody responses between malaria positive and malaria negative individuals. The difference in median anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibody responses in the respective age categories and in the tertile responses (low, medium and high antibody responses), were subjected to Kruskal-Wallis test. Tertile variables were categorized in to three equal groups based on OD values. The difference between individual sample ODs and the mean plus 3 SD of malaria naïve sera OD, was used to determine the seropositivity for each sample.

Because malaria outcome is binary in nature, logistic regression model was used in determining the correlation between anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibodies and protection from clinical malaria after 6 months of follow up. The logistic regression models described here were built using the forward method selection, with malaria positivity as the response variable. Tertile level, age of participant at recruitment and schizont OD were the predictor variables and *p-value* was used in determining the statistical significance of the association with protection.

Model 1, independent variable: Tertile (Low v/s Medium)

In this univariate model, low v/s medium tertile was the explanatory variable which described the influence of being in the low or medium tertile on malaria positivity.

Model 2, independent variable: Tertile (Medium v/s High)

This univariate model assessed the impact of medium v/s high tertile on malaria positivity.

Model 3, independent variable: Tertile (Low v/s High)

In this model, low v/s high tertile was the predictor variable. Whether belonging to the low or high tertile had any impact on malaria positivity, was determined using this model.

Model 4, independent variables: Tertile (Low v/s High), Age of a participant

The effect of belonging to the low or high tertile on malaria positivity after adjusting for age was described in this model. Antibody acquisition is affected by age. Age is therefore a confounder.

Model 5, independent variables: Tertile (Low v/s High), Age of a participant, Exposure (Schizont OD)

In this model, the influence of being in the low or medium tertile on malaria positivity after adjusting for age and exposure of the participant to *P. falciparum* was explored. Antibody responses to the schizont stage of the parasite represented exposure. Exposure to the parasite impacts antibody acquisition against a *P. falciparum* antigen.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

4.1 Construct design

The first 19 amino acids (as highlighted in yellow on the sequence) made up the predicted signal peptide, and the cleavage site was between the 19^{th} and the 20^{th} amino acid. The sequence did not have any transmembrane domains as predicted by the TMHMM server. Two sites where N-glycosylation could take place were predicted as shown by the amino acids highlighted in red in the output below. As this post-translation modification is not common in *P. falciparum*, the threonine and serine residues were substituted with alanine to inhibit protein glycosylation.

Name: Sequence Length: 175

MKCLIFCFSIFLLLTLSLCSTHKEQKYCNSTHRGILKYHKKKDNNEYVTVSA ILKNNALELFKGSKFFEKFSLYDIITPIVILSTDVECLTLNFVNDDSVILCCDT EESINNWWLYLTKQILCLHKGELRNENDNKTLEEEQNNIINNNNLNEVSINI TEDDLDNIPNVLIKTES

A sequence output showing Asn-Xaa-Ser/Thr (N-X-S/T) sequens which are highlighted in blue and the Asparagines (N) highlighted in red were predicted to be N-glycosylated. Part of the sequence highlighted in yellow is the predicted signal peptide with the cleavage site between the 19th and 20th amino acid.

4.2 Successful sub-cloning, expression and characterization of PF3D7_1146100 antigen

The GOI was successfully excised from the GeneArt vector after plasmid isolation and restriction digestion using NheI and BamHI enzymes. After gel purification, ligation and colony screening, PF3D7_1146100 was cloned successfully in to the pTT28 expression vector as indicated by the confirmatory digest (Figure 4.1). The GOI, PF3D7_1146100,

and expression vector pTT28 were of the expected fragment sizes (468 bp and 4445 bp respectively) as shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: A confirmatory digest of the successfully cloned PF3D7_1146100 gene (indicated by the arrow) in a pTT28 expression vector.

Plasmids isolated from TOP 10 *E. coli* transformed cells were transfected into Expi 293F cells. The purified protein was characterized by SDS PAGE, where a band ranging within the predicted molecular weight (20.3 kDa) was observed as shown in Figure 4.2 A. To confirm that the band on the SDS PAGE was PF3D7_1146100, the protein was transferred to PVDF membrane by Western blot. Anti-his antibodies recognized the histag on PF3D7_1146100 as depicted in Figure 4.2 B.



Figure 4.2: Characterization of the purified recombinant PF3D7_1146100($\approx 20.3kDa$) protein as indicated on SDS PAGE (A) and western blot (B) images.

4.3 Concentration of recombinant PF37_1146100 required for an optimal reaction with immune sera

PHIS optical density (OD) readings were higher compared to those of the naïve sera in the serially diluted PF3D7_1146100 protein (from a concentration of 48 μ g/ml to 0.01 μ g/ml). PHIS OD readings increased with the increase in protein concentration up to1.5 μ g/ml, after which increasing protein concentration resulted in a negligible increase in OD. This concentration (1.5 μ g/ml at an OD value of 1.277) was then taken as the coating concentration as shown in the titration curve (Figure 4.3). The curve was generated by plotting concentration in μ g/ml against ODs of the naïve and PHIS sera. In the naïve sera, the optical density readings did not increase with increased protein concentration. PHIS contain antibodies against *P. falciparum* antigens, which have been acquired naturally. The increase in OD readings of PHIS showed that the antibodies present recognised PF3D7_1146100, indicating the immunogenicity of the protein.





A curve of optical density against concentration of PF3D7_1146100 protein to determine the concentration of the protein optimally recognized by antibodies from malaria immune adults (PHIS). The magenta and royal blue curves represent the OD readings of PHIS and naïve sera respectively at the serial dilutions of PF3D7_1146100.

4.4 The epitopes present in recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen

Properly folded proteins are able to illicit an immune response (Birkholtz et al., 2008) as antibodies do bind to their epitopes on the protein which could either be conformational or linear. The epitopes present were determined in both the native and heat-treated protein. Malaria immunoglobulins (MIG) and naïve sera were used as a source of antibodies that could bind to the epitopes present in both the heat-treated and the native proteins. The optical densities for the blank (blocking buffer) and naïve sera were similar in both the heat-treated and the native samples (Figure 4.4). A difference in optical densities was observed with MIG. The OD readings in the native protein were slightly higher than those of the heat-treated sample. This showed that the predominant epitopes in PF3D7_1146100 could be linear.



Linear or Conformational epitopes?

Figure 4.4: Antibody levels against native (magenta bars) and heat-treated (orange bars) PF3D7 1146100 antigen.

The slight decrease in the response of MIG to the heat-treated compared to the native antigen indicates the possible presence of linear epitopes. No response was observed with non-immune sera and blocking buffer (blank).

4.5 Sero-epidemiological information on the Junju 2014 cohort of children

In this cohort, 343 individuals were recruited but only 329 were included in statistical analysis because the rest lacked complete epidemiological data. Of the 329, 48.9% (161/329) were female. The mean age in years of the participants was 8.04 at an IQR of (4-11). Number of episodes summed up to 595 while the mean parasitemia at the bleed was 3607 parasites/ μ l of blood. The prevalence of anti-PF3D7_1146100 as defined by

seropositivity was 34.04%. The positivity cut-off was determined using sera from 26 malaria naïve individuals from the UK where Mean +3SD was an OD of 0.542. Samples with OD value greater than 0.542 were seropositive. With this cut-off, only 112 out of 329 individuals were anti-PF3D7-1146100 positive. Table 1 shows the characteristics of the cohort.

Characteristics 0-3 years 4-6 years 7-9 years 10-12 years >12 years (n=64) (n=64) (n=55) (n=88) (n=58) Mean age in years at enrollment 2.36 5.06 7.96 10.93 13.28 Gender(female %) 35(54.7) 26(40.6) 28(50.9) 47(53.4) 25(43.1) 433.5 4,018 Mean parasitemia/µl of blood 52.5 12,383 289.1 Individuals with at least one malaria episode 48 53 37 64 21 126 151 112 159 47 **Cumulative cases** Anti-PF3D7 1146100 antibody prevalence(%) 9(14.1) 21(32.8) 22(40) 37(42.1) 23(39.7) Exposure(schizont)(%) 25(39.1) 44(68.8) 38(69.1) 74(84.1) 50(86.2)

Table1: Characteristics of the Junju 2014 cohort as obtained from their epidemiological data.

4.6 Presence of naturally acquired antibodies against recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen

Naturally acquired anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibodies were observed in this cohort. Compared to the pooled hyper immune sera (PHIS) and the purified immunoglobulin from adults immune to malaria, anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels were lower in the experimental cohort (Figure 4.5). However, a difference between anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels in the children cohort compared to the controls (naïve sera and blanks) was observed confirming the presence of these antibodies within the population.



Figure 4.5: Interaction of antibodies from the children cohort sera with the recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen.

Malaria immunoglobulin (MIG) and PHIS were positive controls, while sera from individuals naïve to malaria and blank wells (wells in which neither sera nor malaria immunoglobulin were added to sample buffer) were the negative controls.

4.7 Naturally acquired anti-PF3D7 1146100 antibodies' variation with age

Anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibodies were observed to increase with age (Figure 4.6). Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels were lower in the 0-3 years category and higher in the 10-12 years category. The anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels in the five age categories was compared using Kruskal-Wallis test. The differences in the age category were found to be statistically significant (p=0.00063).



Figure 4.6: Antibodies against the recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen increased with age. The ages of children ranged from 1 - 14 years and were divided into 5 categories. The antibody levels varied in the age categories.

4.8 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody responses and malaria outcome

Individuals who did not have malaria throughout the follow up period were observed to have high anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels. Low levels were however observed in malaria positive individuals (Figure 4.7). The Wilcoxon rank sum test showed that this observed outcome was statistically significant (p=0.0097). This prompted the evaluation of whether these antibodies were correlated with protection from malaria.



Figure 4.7: Variation in anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels between malaria negative individuals (0) and malaria positive individuals (1).

Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels were higher in children who were malaria free during the follow up.

4.9 Malaria outcome and levels of anti-schizont antibodies

Individuals who were malaria free at the end of the follow-up period were found to have higher level of antibodies against the schizont extract in comparison to individuals who had at least a single malaria episode (Figure 4.8). The median difference was however slightly statistically significant as shown by the p-value (p=0.064) obtained using the Wilcoxon rank sum test.



Figure 4.8: Anti-schizont antibody among malaria positive and disease free individuals. Variation in anti-schizont antibodies between malaria positive and malaria negative individuals.

4.10 Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies' association with protection against clinical malaria

Evaluation of the correlation between anti-disease immunity and presence of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies, necessitated the classification of the participants into low, medium and high responders, in accordance with their antibody levels. Tertile was the name of the variable with low, medium and high antibody levels (Figure 4.9).

When the effect of being low, medium and high responders to the count of malaria clinical episodes an individual had in the course of the follow up was assessed, low responders had the highest number of episodes compared to both medium and high responders. However, in the medium and high responders the difference in episode numbers was insignificant (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.9: Classification of participants into the low, medium and high tertile based on their anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels.

The low tertile was made up of 111 individuals, while the medium and high tertile had 108 and 110 participants respectively. The median differences in the categories was statistically significant (p<2.2e-16) through Kruskal-Wallis test.



Figure 4.10: Influence of tertile classification on the count of malaria clinical episodes an individual had throughout the follow up.

The low tertile was characterized by many episodes compared to both the medium and high tertile.

In the first model, the obtained odds of being malaria positive at the end of the follow up was 0.711(0.47-1.07) in the low versus medium responders at 95% confidence interval. However, this was a chance occurrence as indicated by the p-value (p=0.107). As such, further analysis for this group was not carried out. For the medium verses high model, the obtained odds ratio was 0.89 and within 0.60-1.31 range at 95% confidence interval and with a p-value of 0.547. Again, being statistically insignificant, this group was dropped. Modelling the low verses high responders and malaria positivity yielded an odds ratio of 0.63(0.42-0.95) at 95% confidence interval. The obtained p-value was 0.0272 indicating that this association was statistically significant and therefore further analysis was done.

When correlating antibody responses against a *P. falciparum* antigen to anti-disease immunity, age and exposure are usually confounders (Doolan et al., 2009). After adjusting the model for age, the odds of being malaria positive was 0.73 in the presence of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies at a 95% CI of 0.48-1.12. This was however not statistically significant as shown by the p-value (p=0.146) indicating that age was a major contributor to this outcome (p-value =0.003). Adjusting further for cumulative exposure using schizont OD values, the odds ratio was still 0.73 (0.44-1.16) at 95% CI. Still, this was not statistically significant as the p-value obtained from the model was 0.176. The p-value obtained for cumulative exposure (p=0.89), showed it had a negligible effect in the model (Table 2).

 Table 2: A Logistic regression analysis summary.

Model 1= Low v/s Medium, Model 2=Medium v/s High, Model 3= Low v/s High, Model 4= Model 3 adjusted for age and Model 5= Model 4 adjusted for exposure. Adjusting for age is shown by ^a and exposure by ^b.*shows that the p-value is statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Model	Intercept	β coeff	Odds ratio	p-value	95% CI
Model 1	0.893	-0.342	0.71	0.107	0.47-1.07
Model 2	0.567	-0.120	0.89	0.547	0.60-1.31
Model 3	0.808	-0.462	0.63	0.027*	0.42-0.95
Model 4	1.806	-0.316	0.73 ^a	0.146	(0.48-1.12) ^a
Model 5	1.767	-0.333	0.73 ^{a,b}	0.176	(0.44-1.16) ^{a, b}

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

Evidence from passive transfer studies (Cohen et al., 1961; McGregor, 1964) give an implication that antibodies could be targeting conserved antigens, essential for parasite's growth or survival. Most of these antigens are yet to be identified. There are a number of studies that have applied reverse vaccinology to identify novel antigens. In most cases, presence of signal peptides and transmembrane domains, *P. falciparum* export signals and subcellular localisation has been the main criteria for antigen selection. This is because humoral immune responses have been shown to target antigens found on the surface of or secreted by the parasite. Using this strategy, there is a likelihood of discovering antigens that are conserved, highly polymorphic or have antigenic variation. These variations and polymorphisms observed in blood stage antigens have been a bottleneck in malaria vaccine development. Most of the erythrocytic stage vaccine candidates induce a strain specific immune response shown by the clinical trial results (Takala and Plowe, 2009; Thera et al., 2011; Bailey et al., 2020) preventing them from advancing into malaria vaccines.

In this study, a unique approach in antigen discovery was exploited. Reverse vaccinology was applied on functional genomics data of genes shown to be essential for *P. falciparum* survival through saturation mutagenesis. PF3D7_1146100 was among the antigens discovered using this strategy. It is a conserved protein whose function in *P. falciparum* is yet to be established. This gene is 1432 bp long with introns that when spliced, a predicted mRNA sequence of 528 bp is obtained. Its translated product is 175 amino acids long with the first 19 amino acids constituting a signal peptide (Figure 3.3) hence its selection as a probable target for antibodies against *P. falciparum*.

Studies on heterologous expression of *P. falciparum* antigens have implicated the presence of parasite's signal peptides, transmembrane domains, transit peptides and PEXEL in the target antigen, in slowing down their expression and secretion (Aguiar et

al., 2004; Mehlin et al., 2006; Vedadi et al., 2007). For this reason, the PF3D7_1146100 signal peptide was cleaved. The mouse IgG kappa signal peptide present on the pTT28 vector was used instead. Crosnier and colleagues showed that using a mouse IgG kappa signal peptide increased the expression of RH 5 approximately 3.5 fold in HEK 293 cells, in comparison to using the native *P. falciparum* peptide (Crosnier et al., 2013). This confirmed findings of Reymond and colleagues in which the signal peptide of *Dictyostelium* was required for expression of CSP in *Dictyostelium* (Reymond et al., 1995).

The high AT content and frequency of arginine and lysine repeats in *P. falciparum* antigens has been reported to impact negatively on their recombinant protein production (Aguiar et al., 2004; Mehlin et al., 2006; Vedadi et al., 2007). This is due to the incompatibility in codon preference between *P. falciparum* and the non-natural host. As a result, the most preferred and frequently used tRNAs during translation of *P. falciparum* proteins, abundant in the parasite, are mostly rare in heterologous expression systems (Yadava and Ockenhouse, 2003; Flick et al., 2004; Birkholtz et al., 2008). The depletion of these limited tRNAs during protein translation, results in truncated proteins due to ribosomal unit drop-off from the mRNA sequence (Flick et al., 2004). Codon optimization increases the GC content and improves levels of the rare tRNA in the host, enhancing protein expression, solubility and correct folding (Narum et al., 2001).

On this basis, PF3D7_1146100 was codon optimized for expression in mammalian cells (Expi 293 F cells). Although Crosnier et al. (2013) reported that codon optimization did not on its own improve heterologous expression of RH 5, Narum et al. (2001)'s findings were >4 fold increase in the expression of MSP1₄₂ and EBA 175 region II of codon optimized genes expressed in mouse cells compared to the native ones. Improved expression levels of codon optimized EBA 175 F2 domain in *E. coli* and *P. pastoris* was also reported by Yadava and Ockenhouse (2003). Before Crosnier et al. (2013), Flick et al. (2004) had reported the same expression levels of codon optimized and native (GST-

Duffy Binding Like α domain of Erythrocyte Membrane Protein 1) GST-DBL α in *E.coli* cells.

A recombinant form of an antigen that is soluble and correctly folded is important when studying its role in naturally acquired immunity to clinical malaria. Thus, PF3D7_1146100 was successfully cloned and expressed in Expi 293 F cells, a mammalian expression system. The choice of this expression system was informed by previous studies in which HEK 293 cells were exploited in the production of recombinant *P. falciparum* antigens in their soluble and native structure (Zenonos et al., 2014; Crosnier et al., 2013).

Mammalian cells have a secretory pathway in which secreted and trans-membrane proteins are translated in an oxidizing environment enabling the formation of disulphide bonds between cysteine residues in the amino acid sequence, and other covalent bonds which result in protein folding (Wright, 2009). They also provide post translational modifications that are vital in protein localisation, solubility and antigenicity. As shown in Figures 4.2, the purified protein was resolved in SDS PAGE followed by transfer to PVDF membrane by western blotting, however, the bands obtained had a higher molecular weight than the predicted (20.3 KDa). This is possibly due to post translational modifications involving o-linked glycosylation as well as protein phosphorylation in the serine, threonine and tyrosine residues (Storey et al., 1998; Giersing et al., 2005). This possibility however should be validated by phosphorylation and glycan detection assays. In another study, a similar observation on the difference between the predicted and the experimental molecular mass of LSA3 antigen was made, and was attributed to the protein's physiological properties as it was expressed in a wheat germ cell free system (WGCF) (Morita et al., 2017).

The recognition of PF3D7_1146100 by pooled hyper immune sera from malaria immune adults showed that this antigen is immunogenic. Its immunoreactivity facilitated the

determination of coating concentration to be 1.5 μ g/ml probably due to the fact that it is relatively conserved. This is in line with other studies that have established the coating concentration of antigens that are less polymorphic to be high (Kamuyu et al., 2018; Patel et al., 2013; Reiling et al., 2010). Antigens that are less polymorphic are under low immune pressure; as a result, a lot of the antigen is required to mount an immune response. It is also likely that the location of the antigen on the merozoite could have an impact on the amount of antibodies generated against it.

Formation of a protein complex that helps the parasite to invade the host RBCs or involvement in a signalling pathway could also result in low immunoreactivity. This could be due to the position of the antigen in the complex or in the signalling cascade, as some epitopes could be masked by the proteins it is associated with. This needs to be validated as the localisation of PF3D7_1146100 is still unknown however; it has a PH-domain like, a characteristic of protein kinase family. Another explanation is its relatively modest expression during the seven time points of asexual intra-erythrocytic development cycle (IDC) in comparison to other antigens (Otto et al., 2010), despite its accessibility for transcription throughout IDC (Toenhake et al., 2018).

The conformation of a protein is a key determinant factor for its interaction with antibodies (Stowers et al., 2001; Yadava and Ockenhouse, 2003; Birkholtz et al., 2008; Fernandez-Robledo and Vasta, 2010) and other antigens (Wright, 2009). As such, a protein in its native or correctly folded structure interacts effectively with other proteins and in case of antibodies, conformational epitopes are well displayed. PF3D7_1146100 could be having linear epitopes as indicated by the slight change in the OD values of MIG to the heat-treated and the native protein. This could be due to the low percentage of cysteine residues present in the antigen (3.2%). The oxidation of thiol groups of cysteine residues in an amino acid sequence, results in the rapid formation of disulphide bonds making a protein to fold and display epitopes or regions for forming protein complexes (Wright, 2009; Festa et al., 2013). This approach was preferred as *P*.

falciparum antigens that could be interacting with PF3D7_1146100 are still unknown, an area that can be further explored.

Prospective cohorts provide a platform for assessing the longevity of antibody responses in subjects to an antigen(s) and their role in protection against clinical malaria (Marsh, 1992; Perraut et al., 2003). In this case, participants constituted children aged 1 to 14 years from a malaria endemic area. Children are most affected as they succumb to clinical malaria and therefore identifying targets that will induce a protective immune response for prioritization as vaccine candidates, necessitates using such a cohort. The seroprevalence of anti-PF3D7_1146100 was 34.04%. The conserved nature of this protein, its modest expression, essentiality and accessibility to the immune system could be responsible for the low seroprevalence. This is in line with other studies that have reported low seroprevalence for conserved antigens in comparison to other polymorphic antigens (Douglas et al., 2011; Kamuyu et al., 2018; Patel et al., 2013). Antibody levels to PF3D7_114600 in the children were lower in comparison to PHIS and MIG, possibly due to the difference in levels of exposure and the maturity of the acquired immune system.

Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies were observed to increase with age, their concentration being lowest in the 0-3-year age category and highest in the 10-12-year category. This is in agreement with studies done on longitudinal cohorts of children (Chelimo et al., 2005; Akpogheneta et al., 2008; Dodoo et al., 2008; Nebie et al., 2008a; Nebie et al., 2008b; Pinkevych et al., 2012; Cherif et al., 2017; Murungi et al., 2013; Seck et al., 2020; Kyei-Baafour et al., 2021) . Long lived antibodies are acquired through repeated exposure to *P. falciparum* and host related factors like the extent to which the acquired immune system is developed (Baird, 1995; Cherif et al., 2017) . According to Yman et al. (2019), the half-life of antibodies secreted by both long-lived and short-lived antibody secreting cells was approximately 1.8 to 3.7 years and 10-16 days respectively in a cohort of

travellers in the absence of re-exposure. In another study, long-lived antibodies were shown to persist for 5-10 years (Akpogheneta et al., 2008).

Exposure to *P. falciparum* resulted in production of short-lived antibodies accompanied by low levels of long-lived antibodies which were boosted by repeated exposure. The low levels of antibodies in the 0-3 year category observed in this study can be attributed to the low *P. falciparum* exposure, probably due to having very few cases of infection (Yman et al., 2019). Another reason could be due to the poorly developed acquired immune system as the development of long-lived plasma cells increases with age (Baird, 1995). Hence, as the immune system develops, boosting of long-lived plasma cells takes place resulting in their increased secretion (Akpogheneta et al., 2008). Participants were bled prior to the onset of a malaria transmission season enabling the assessment of long-lived antibodies that persisted in the absence of exposure during the dry season. Consequently, long-lived anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies followed the age-dependent pattern in their acquisition indicating that they were malaria specific.

In assessing the level of antibodies acquired and malaria outcome, individuals who had no malaria at the end of six months follow-up had high anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies. This was an indication of a possible relationship between anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies and onset of the disease. The same was observed for antibodies against schizont extract, possibly portraying the role of cumulative exposure to acquisition of antibodies, which could have a protective effect against clinical malaria and the overall status of the asexual blood stage immunity (McCallum et al., 2008).

Focussing on the possibility of protective effect of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels, in a univariate logistic regression analysis, anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies were significantly associated with anti-disease immunity in the high responders compared to low responders. However, after adjusting for age and exposure, the association was not significant. A previous study carried out by Murungi et al. (2013) in the same area

showed that antibody concentration in the cohort was significantly low to all the antigens evaluated (Murungi et al., 2013). They attributed their observation to Junju being an area of intermediate malaria transmission based on the parasite prevalence rate of children aged 2-10 years (PfPR₂₋₁₀) which was 29%. A lower parasite prevalence rate was obtained from this study (14%) indicating a reduction in transmission in Junju, which could possibly be a better explanation for the lack of significant association of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies with protection against clinical malaria. Since the protective effect of antibodies to their specific antigens against malaria must meet a certain threshold (Murungi et al., 2013), this study shows that for the threshold of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies to be met, there should be repeated exposure coupled with a well-developed acquired immune system. Using a cohort of children from a high transmission area and adult cohorts could best explain this association (Baird, 1995; Yman et al., 2019).

Other studies were unable to find the correlation between antibodies against a specific antigen to malaria positivity; however, some of their IgG subclasses (especially cytophilic IgG1 and IgG3) were significantly associated with protection from malaria (Nebie et al., 2008a; Cherif et al., 2017; Metzger et al., 2003). The same could be done for this antigen as our study did not assay for IgG subclasses of anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies. Naturally acquired antibodies against cysteine rich protective antigen (CyRPA), a protein that is part of the CyRPA-Ripr-RH5 complex vital for RBC invasion by the parasite, have been found not to be significantly associated with protection; however, their vaccine-induced antibodies were able to significantly prevent parasites growth *in vitro* (Healer et al., 2019). For PF3D7_1146100, this could also lay a basis for the evaluation of its vaccine induced antibodies against parasite growth inhibition having in mind that this antigen is vital for *P. falciparum* survival and is moderately expressed in all the stages of the blood stage cycle.

5.2 Conclusion

The combination of functional genomics and reverse vaccinology provides a unique platform for identifying novel essential *P. falciparum* antigens that could be targeted by antibodies, as evidenced by this study. Furthermore, this is the first study to show that expression of PF3D7_1146100 in a heterologous system is possible. The evaluation of the association between antibodies against this protein and protection from clinical malaria is being reported for the first time here using a prospective cohort of children between the ages of 1-14 years.

The findings of this study suggest that the longevity of antibodies against a conserved antigen is acquired at a very slow rate and is therefore age dependent. There is need for validation of these findings in other malaria endemic settings and cohorts. The essentiality and immunoreactivity of this antigen should not be ignored. This is despite the fact that its naturally acquired antibodies lack significant association in protection against clinical malaria in a multivariate analysis. It could be a possible vaccine candidate when evaluated in functional assays like growth inhibition assay (GIA), opsonic phagocytosis assay (OPA), antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) among others.

5.3 Recommendations

The findings of this study present numerous knowledge gaps that could be important to look into.

• PF3D7_1146100 is a conserved protein whose function and subcellular localization are unknown. Establishing its role and localization in the parasite could help inform its application in malaria eradication and other parasitic diseases. Gene knock out studies could help inform its function in *P. falciparum* and other Apicomplexa organisms.

- This antigen should also be studied using a prospective cohort of children from a high malaria transmission intensity setting.
- Cohorts of adults from both High and intermediate transmission settings should also be exploited due to their fully developed naturally acquired immunity.
- Establishing a protective threshold of antibodies to this antigen could standardize its evaluation in the association to protection against clinical malaria in areas of different malaria endemicity.
- PF3D7_1146100 is immunogenic, the growth inhibitory activity of antibodies to it, induced by natural infection can be evaluated to determine its prioritization as a vaccine candidate.
- Growth inhibitory function of anti- PF3D7_1146100 antibodies raised in animal models could help inform the presence of other epitopes other than those accessible to NAI.
- Mapping of PF3D7_1146100 epitopes could help in the generation of synthetic peptides.
- It is also important to assess NAI of this antigen in field isolates.
- PF3D7_1146100 transcriptomic data shows that it is also expressed in gametocyte stages and ookinete. Evaluating this antigen in the context of transmission blocking immunity is key, as it could be a potential multistage vaccine candidate.
- Modelling the 3-Dimensional structure and protein crystallization of this antigen will aid in monoclonal antibody and drug targeting.
- Establishing whether PF3D7_1146100 interacts with other proteins could result in the identification of other novel antigens or shade more light on protein complexes exploited in *P. falciparum* signalling pathways.

REFERENCES

- Aguiar J. C., Bolton J., Wanga J., Sacci J. B., Iriko H., Mazeika J. K., Han E. T., Limbach K., Patterson N. B., Sedegah M., Cruz A. M., Tsuboi T., Hoffman S. L., Carucci D., Hollingdale M. R., Villasante E. D. & Richie T. L. 2015. Discovery of Novel Plasmodium falciparum Pre-Erythrocytic Antigens for Vaccine Development. *PLoS One*, 10, e0136109.
- Aguiar J. C., Labaer J., Blair P. L., Shamailova V. Y., Koundinya M., Russell J. A., Huang F., Mar W., Anthony R. M., Witney A., Caruana S. R., Brizuela L., Sacci J. B., Jr., Hoffman S. L. & Carucci D. J. 2004. High-throughput generation of P. falciparum functional molecules by recombinational cloning. *Genome Res*, 14, 2076-2082.
- Akpogheneta O. J., Duah N. O., Tetteh K. K., Dunyo S., Lanar D. E., Pinder M. & Conway D. J. 2008. Duration of naturally acquired antibody responses to bloodstage Plasmodium falciparum is age dependent and antigen specific. *Infect Immun*, 76, 1748-1755.
- Anders R. F. 2011. The case for a subunit vaccine against malaria. *Trends Parasitol*, 27, 330-334.
- Bailey J. A., Berry A. A., Travassos M. A., Ouattara A., Boudova S., Dotsey E. Y., Pike A., Jacob C. G., Adams M. & Tan J. C. 2020. Microarray analyses reveal strainspecific antibody responses to Plasmodium falciparum apical membrane antigen 1 variants following natural infection and vaccination. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-12.
- Baird J. K. 1995. Host age as a determinant of naturally acquired immunity to Plasmodium falciparum. *Parasitol Today*, 11, 105-111.
- Berkley S. 2019. The Power of Vaccines and How Gavi Has Helped Make the World Healthier: 2019 Lasker-Bloomberg Public Service Award. *Jama*, 322, 1251-1252.
- Bhatt S., Weiss D. J., Cameron E., Bisanzio D., Mappin B., Dalrymple U., Battle K., Moyes C. L., Henry A., Eckhoff P. A., Wenger E. A., Briet O., Penny M. A., Smith T. A., Bennett A., Yukich J., Eisele T. P., Griffin J. T., Fergus C. A., Lynch M., Lindgren F., Cohen J. M., Murray C. L. J., Smith D. L., Hay S. I., Cibulskis R. E. & Gething P. W. 2015. The effect of malaria control on Plasmodium falciparum in Africa between 2000 and 2015. *Nature*, 526, 207-211.
- Birkholtz L. M., Blatch G., Coetzer T. L., Hoppe H. C., Human E., Morris E. J., Ngcete Z., Oldfield L., Roth R., Shonhai A., Stephens L. & Louw A. I. 2008. Heterologous expression of plasmodial proteins for structural studies and functional annotation. *Malar J*, 7, 197.
- Boddey J. A. & Cowman A. F. 2013. Plasmodium nesting: remaking the erythrocyte from the inside out. *Annu Rev Microbiol*, 67, 243-269.

- Bouharoun-Tayoun H., Attanath P., Sabchareon A., Chongsuphajaisiddhi T. & Druilhe P. J. T. J. O. E. M. 1990. Antibodies that protect humans against Plasmodium falciparum blood stages do not on their own inhibit parasite growth and invasion in vitro, but act in cooperation with monocytes. 172, 1633-1641.
- Bull P. C. & Marsh K. 2002. The role of antibodies to Plasmodium falciparum infectederythrocyte surface antigens in naturally acquired immunity to malaria. *Trends Microbiol*, 10 55-58.
- Bustamante L. Y., Powell G. T., Lin Y. C., Macklin M. D., Cross N., Kemp A., Cawkill P., Sanderson T., Crosnier C., Muller-Sienerth N., Doumbo O. K., Traore B., Crompton P. D., Cicuta P., Tran T. M., Wright G. J. & Rayner J. C. 2017. Synergistic malaria vaccine combinations identified by systematic antigen screening. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, 114, 12045-12050.
- Bustreo F., Okwo-Bele J. M. & Kamara L. 2015. World Health Organization perspectives on the contribution of the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization on reducing child mortality. *Arch Dis Child*, 100 Suppl 1, S34-S37.
- Carucci D. J. 2002. Technologies for the study of gene and protein expression in Plasmodium. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 357, 13-16.
- Chang A. Y., Riumallo-Herl C., Perales N. A., Clark S., Clark A., Constenla D., Garske T., Jackson M. L., Jean K., Jit M., Jones E. O., Li X., Suraratdecha C., Bullock O., Johnson H., Brenzel L. & Verguet S. 2018. The Equity Impact Vaccines May Have On Averting Deaths And Medical Impoverishment In Developing Countries. *Health Aff (Millwood)*, 37, 316-324.
- Chatterjee D. & Cockburn I. A. 2021. The challenges of a circumsporozoite proteinbased malaria vaccine. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, 20, 113-125.
- Chauhan V. S., Yazdani S. S. & Gaur D. 2010. Malaria vaccine development based on merozoite surface proteins of Plasmodium falciparum. *Hum Vaccin*, 6, 757-762.
- Chelimo K., Ofulla A. V., Narum D. L., Kazura J. W., Lanar D. E. & John C. C. 2005. Antibodies to Plasmodium falciparum antigens vary by age and antigen in children in a malaria-holoendemic area of Kenya. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*, 24, 680-684.
- Cherif M. K., Ouedraogo O., Sanou G. S., Diarra A., Ouedraogo A., Tiono A., Cavanagh D. R., Michael T., Konate A. T., Watson N. L., Sanza M., Dube T. J. T., Sirima S. B. & Nebie I. 2017. Antibody responses to P. falciparum blood stage antigens and incidence of clinical malaria in children living in endemic area in Burkina Faso. *BMC Res Notes*, 10, 472.
- Clarke E. & Sherrill-Mix S. 2017. ggbeeswarm: categorical scatter (violin point) plots. R package version 0.6. 0.
- Cohen S. 1979. Immunity to malaria. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 203, 323-45.
- Cohen S., Butcher G. & Crandall R. J. N. 1969. Action of malarial antibody in vitro. 223, 368-371.

- Cohen S., Mc G. I. & Carrington S. 1961. Gamma-globulin and acquired immunity to human malaria. *Nature*, 192, 733-737.
- Cowan G. J., Bockau U., Eleni-Muus J., Aldag I., Samuel K., Creasey A. M., Hartmann M. W. & Cavanagh D. R. 2014. A novel malaria vaccine candidate antigen expressed in Tetrahymena thermophila. *PLoS One*, 9, e87198.
- Cowman A. F. & Crabb B. S. 2006. Invasion of red blood cells by malaria parasites. *Cell*, 124, 755-766.
- Cowman A. F., Healer J., Marapana D. & Marsh K. 2016. Malaria: Biology and Disease. *Cell*, 167, 610-624.
- Cowman A. F., Tonkin C. J., Tham W. H. & Duraisingh M. T. 2017. The Molecular Basis of Erythrocyte Invasion by Malaria Parasites. *Cell Host Microbe*, 22, 232-245.
- Crompton P. D., Kayala M. A., Traore B., Kayentao K., Ongoiba A., Weiss G. E., Molina D. M., Burk C. R., Waisberg M., Jasinskas A., Tan X., Doumbo S., Doumtabe D., Kone Y., Narum D. L., Liang X., Doumbo O. K., Miller L. H., Doolan D. L., Baldi P., Felgner P. L. & Pierce S. K. 2010. A prospective analysis of the Ab response to Plasmodium falciparum before and after a malaria season by protein microarray. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107, 6958-6963.
- Crosnier C., Wanaguru M., Mcdade B., Osier F. H., Marsh K., Rayner J. C. & Wright G. J. 2013. A library of functional recombinant cell-surface and secreted P. falciparum merozoite proteins. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 12, 3976-3986.
- Davies D. H., Duffy P., Bodmer J. L., Felgner P. L. & Doolan D. L. 2015. Large screen approaches to identify novel malaria vaccine candidates. *Vaccine*, 33, 7496-7505.
- Dhiman S. 2019. Are malaria elimination efforts on right track? An analysis of gains achieved and challenges ahead. *Infect Dis Poverty*, 8, 14.
- Dodoo D., Aikins A., Kusi K. A., Lamptey H., Remarque E., Milligan P., Bosomprah S., Chilengi R., Osei Y. D., Akanmori B. D. & Theisen M. 2008. Cohort study of the association of antibody levels to AMA1, MSP119, MSP3 and GLURP with protection from clinical malaria in Ghanaian children. *Malar J*, 7, 142.
- Doolan D. L., Apte S. H. & Proietti C. J. I. J. F. P. 2014. Genome-based vaccine design: the promise for malaria and other infectious diseases. 44, 901-913.
- Doolan D. L., Dobano C. & Baird J. K. 2009. Acquired immunity to malaria. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 22, 13-36.
- Doolan D. L., Mu Y., Unal B., Sundaresh S., Hirst S., Valdez C., Randall A., Molina D., Liang X., Freilich D. A., Oloo J. A., Blair P. L., Aguiar J. C., Baldi P., Davies D. H. & Felgner P. L. 2008. Profiling humoral immune responses to P. falciparum infection with protein microarrays. *Proteomics*, 8, 4680-4694.
- Douglas A. D., Baldeviano G. C., Lucas C. M., Lugo-Roman L. A., Crosnier C., Bartholdson S. J., Diouf A., Miura K., Lambert L. E., Ventocilla J. A., Leiva K. P., Milne K. H., Illingworth J. J., Spencer A. J., Hjerrild K. A., Alanine D. G.,

Turner A. V., Moorhead J. T., Edgel K. A., Wu Y., Long C. A., Wright G. J., Lescano A. G. & Draper S. J. 2015. A PfRH5-based vaccine is efficacious against heterologous strain blood-stage Plasmodium falciparum infection in aotus monkeys. *Cell Host Microbe*, 17, 130-139.

- Douglas A. D., Williams A. R., Illingworth J. J., Kamuyu G., Biswas S., Goodman A. L., Wyllie D. H., Crosnier C., Miura K., Wright G. J., Long C. A., Osier F. H., Marsh K., Turner A. V., Hill A. V. & Draper S. J. 2011. The blood-stage malaria antigen PfRH5 is susceptible to vaccine-inducible cross-strain neutralizing antibody. *Nat Commun*, 2, 601.
- Draper S. J., Sack B. K., King C. R., Nielsen C. M., Rayner J. C., Higgins M. K., Long C. A. & Seder R. A. 2018. Malaria Vaccines: Recent Advances and New Horizons. *Cell Host Microbe*, 24, 43-56.
- Duffy P. E., Krzych U., Francis S. & Fried M. 2005. Malaria vaccines: using models of immunity and functional genomics tools to accelerate the development of vaccines against Plasmodium falciparum. *Vaccine*, 23, 2235-2242.
- Durocher Y., Perret S. & Kamen A. 2002. High-level and high-throughput recombinant protein production by transient transfection of suspension-growing human 293-EBNA1 cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30, e9-e9.
- El-Houderi A., Constantin J., Castelnuovo E. & Sauboin C. 2019. Economic and Resource Use Associated With Management of Malaria in Children Aged <5 Years in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. *MDM Policy Pract*, 4, 2381468319893986.
- Fernandez-Robledo J. A. & Vasta G. R. 2010. Production of recombinant proteins from protozoan parasites. *Trends Parasitol*, 26, 244-254.
- Festa F., Steel J., Bian X. & Labaer J. 2013. High-throughput cloning and expression library creation for functional proteomics. *Proteomics*, 13, 1381-1399.
- Flick K., Ahuja S., Chene A., Bejarano M. T. & Chen Q. 2004. Optimized expression of Plasmodium falciparum erythrocyte membrane protein 1 domains in Escherichia coli. *Malar J*, 3, 50.
- Fowkes F. J., Richards J. S., Simpson J. A. & Beeson J. G. 2010. The relationship between anti-merozoite antibodies and incidence of Plasmodium falciparum malaria: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med*, 7, e1000218.
- Frimpong A., Kusi K. A., Ofori M. F. & Ndifon W. 2018. Novel Strategies for Malaria Vaccine Design. *Frontiers in immunology*, 9, 2769.
- Gardner M. J., Hall N., Fung E., White O., Berriman M., Hyman R. W., Carlton J. M., Pain A., Nelson K. E., Bowman S., Paulsen I. T., James K., Eisen J. A., Rutherford K., Salzberg S. L., Craig A., Kyes S., Chan M. S., Nene V., Shallom S. J., Suh B., Peterson J., Angiuoli S., Pertea M., Allen J., Selengut J., Haft D., Mather M. W., Vaidya A. B., Martin D. M., Fairlamb A. H., Fraunholz M. J., Roos D. S., Ralph S. A., Mcfadden G. I., Cummings L. M., Subramanian G. M., Mungall C., Venter J. C., Carucci D. J., Hoffman S. L., Newbold C., Davis R.

W., Fraser C. M. & Barrell B. 2002. Genome sequence of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. *Nature*, 419, 498-511.

- Ghosh S., Malhotra P., Lalitha P., Guha-Mukherjee S. & Chauhan V. J. P. S. 2002. Expression of Plasmodium falciparum C-terminal region of merozoite surface protein (PfMSP119), a potential malaria vaccine candidate, in tobacco. *Plant Science*, 162, 335-343.
- Giersing B., Miura K., Shimp R., Wang J., Zhou H., Orcutt A., Stowers A., Saul A., Miller L. H., Long C. & Singh S. 2005. posttranslational modification of recombinant Plasmodium falciparum apical membrane antigen 1: impact on functional immune responses to a malaria vaccine candidate. *Infect Immun*, 73, 3963-3970.
- Gupta S., Snow R. W., Donnelly C. A., Marsh K. & Newbold C. 1999. Immunity to non-cerebral severe malaria is acquired after one or two infections. *Nat Med*, 5, 340-343.
- Haakenstad A., Harle A. C., Tsakalos G., Micah A. E., Tao T., Anjomshoa M., Cohen J., Fullman N., Hay S. I., Mestrovic T., Mohammed S., Mousavi S. M., Nixon M. R., Pigott D., Tran K., Murray C. J. L. & Dieleman J. L. 2019. Tracking spending on malaria by source in 106 countries, 2000-16: an economic modelling study. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 19, 703-716.
- Healer J., Wong W., Thompson J. K., He W., Birkinshaw R. W., Miura K., Long C. A., Soroka V., Sogaard T. M. M., Jorgensen T., De Jongh W. A., Weir C., Svahn E., Czabotar P. E., Tham W. H., Mueller I., Barlow P. N. & Cowman A. F. 2019. Neutralizing antibodies block the function of Rh5/Ripr/CyRPA complex during invasion of Plasmodium falciparum into human erythrocytes. *Cell Microbiol*, e13030.
- Hoffman S. L., Rogers W. O., Carucci D. J. & Venter J. C. 1998. From genomics to vaccines: malaria as a model system. *Nat Med*, 4, 1351-1353.
- Ito D., Takashima E., Yamasaki T., Hatano S., Hasegawa T., Miura K., Morita M., Thongkukiatkul A., Diakite M., Long C. A., Sattabongkot J., Udomsangpetch R., Iriko H., Ishino T. & Tsuboi T. 2019. Antibodies against a Plasmodium falciparum RON12 inhibit merozoite invasion into erythrocytes. *Parasitol Int*, 68, 87-91.
- Kamuyu G., Tuju J., Kimathi R., Mwai K., Mburu J., Kibinge N., Chong Kwan M., Hawkings S., Yaa R., Chepsat E., Njunge J. M., Chege T., Guleid F., Rosenkranz M., Kariuki C. K., Frank R., Kinyanjui S. M., Murungi L. M., Bejon P., Farnert A., Tetteh K. K. A., Beeson J. G., Conway D. J., Marsh K., Rayner J. C. & Osier F. H. A. 2018. KILchip v1.0: A Novel Plasmodium falciparum Merozoite Protein Microarray to Facilitate Malaria Vaccine Candidate Prioritization. *Front Immunol*, 9, 2866.
- Kassambara A. 2019. ggpubr:"ggplot2" based publication ready plots. R package version 0.2. 2.

- Kyei-Baafour E., Oppong M., Kusi K. A., Frempong A. F., Aculley B., Arthur F. K., Tiendrebeogo R. W., Singh S. K., Theisen M. & Kweku M. 2021. Suitability of IgG responses to multiple Plasmodium falciparum antigens as markers of transmission intensity and pattern. *Plos one*, 16, e0249936.
- Li X., Mukandavire C., Cucunubá Z. M., Londono S. E., Abbas K., Clapham H. E., Jit M., Johnson H. L., Papadopoulos T. & Vynnycky E. 2021. Estimating the health impact of vaccination against ten pathogens in 98 low-income and middleincome countries from 2000 to 2030: a modelling study. *The Lancet*, 397, 398-408.
- Marsh K. 1992. Malaria--a neglected disease? Parasitology, 104 Suppl, S53-69.
- Marsh K. & Kinyanjui S. 2006. Immune effector mechanisms in malaria. *Parasite Immunol*, 28, 51-60.
- Marsh K., Otoo L., Hayes R. J., Carson D. C. & Greenwood B. M. 1989. Antibodies to blood stage antigens of Plasmodium falciparum in rural Gambians and their relation to protection against infection. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg*, 83, 293-303.
- Mccallum F. J., Persson K. E., Mugyenyi C. K., Fowkes F. J., Simpson J. A., Richards J. S., Williams T. N., Marsh K. & Beeson J. G. 2008. Acquisition of growthinhibitory antibodies against blood-stage Plasmodium falciparum. *PLoS One*, 3, e3571.
- Mcgregor I., Carrington S., Cohen S. J. T. O. T. R. S. O. T. M. & Hygiene 1963. Treatment of East African P. falciparum malaria with West African human γglobulin. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 57, 170-175.
- Mcgregor I. A. 1964. Studies in The Acquisition of Immunity of Plasmodium falciparum Infections in Africa. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg*, 58, 80-92.
- Mehlin C., Boni E., Buckner F. S., Engel L., Feist T., Gelb M. H., Haji L., Kim D., Liu C., Mueller N., Myler P. J., Reddy J. T., Sampson J. N., Subramanian E., Van Voorhis W. C., Worthey E., Zucker F. & Hol W. G. 2006. Heterologous expression of proteins from Plasmodium falciparum: results from 1000 genes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 148, 144-160.
- Metzger W. G., Okenu D. M., Cavanagh D. R., Robinson J. V., Bojang K. A., Weiss H. A., Mcbride J. S., Greenwood B. M. & Conway D. J. 2003. Serum IgG3 to the Plasmodium falciparum merozoite surface protein 2 is strongly associated with a reduced prospective risk of malaria. *Parasite Immunol*, 25, 307-312.
- Milek R. L., Stunnenberg H. G. & Konings R. N. 2000. Assembly and expression of a synthetic gene encoding the antigen Pfs48/45 of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum in yeast. *Vaccine*, 18, 1402-1411.
- Moon K.-W. 2018. ggiraphExtra: Make Interactive 'ggplot2'. Extension to 'ggplot2' and 'ggiraph. R package version 0.2.9.
- Morita M., Takashima E., Ito D., Miura K., Thongkukiatkul A., Diouf A., Fairhurst R. M., Diakite M., Long C. A., Torii M. & Tsuboi T. 2017. Immunoscreening of
Plasmodium falciparum proteins expressed in a wheat germ cell-free system reveals a novel malaria vaccine candidate. *Sci Rep*, 7, 46086.

- Mu J., Awadalla P., Duan J., Mcgee K. M., Keebler J., Seydel K., Mcvean G. A. & Su X. Z. 2007. Genome-wide variation and identification of vaccine targets in the Plasmodium falciparum genome. *Nat Genet*, 39, 126-130.
- Murungi L. M., Kamuyu G., Lowe B., Bejon P., Theisen M., Kinyanjui S. M., Marsh K. & Osier F. H. 2013. A threshold concentration of anti-merozoite antibodies is required for protection from clinical episodes of malaria. *Vaccine*, 31, 3936-3942.
- Narum D. L., Kumar S., Rogers W. O., Fuhrmann S. R., Liang H., Oakley M., Taye A., Sim B. K. & Hoffman S. L. 2001. Codon optimization of gene fragments encoding Plasmodium falciparum merzoite proteins enhances DNA vaccine protein expression and immunogenicity in mice. *Infect Immun*, 69, 7250-7253.
- Neafsey D. E., Juraska M., Bedford T., Benkeser D., Valim C., Griggs A., Lievens M., Abdulla S., Adjei S., Agbenyega T., Agnandji S. T., Aide P., Anderson S., Ansong D., Aponte J. J., Asante K. P., Bejon P., Birkett A. J., Bruls M., Connolly K. M., D'alessandro U., Dobano C., Gesase S., Greenwood B., Grimsby J., Tinto H., Hamel M. J., Hoffman I., Kamthunzi P., Kariuki S., Kremsner P. G., Leach A., Lell B., Lennon N. J., Lusingu J., Marsh K., Martinson F., Molel J. T., Moss E. L., Njuguna P., Ockenhouse C. F., Ogutu B. R., Otieno W., Otieno L., Otieno K., Owusu-Agyei S., Park D. J., Pelle K., Robbins D., Russ C., Ryan E. M., Sacarlal J., Sogoloff B., Sorgho H., Tanner M., Theander T., Valea I., Volkman S. K., Yu Q., Lapierre D., Birren B. W., Gilbert P. B. & Wirth D. F. 2015. Genetic Diversity and Protective Efficacy of the RTS,S/AS01 Malaria Vaccine. *N Engl J Med*, 373, 2025-2037.
- Nebie I., Diarra A., Ouedraogo A., Soulama I., Bougouma E. C., Tiono A. B., Konate A. T., Chilengi R., Theisen M., Dodoo D., Remarque E., Bosomprah S., Milligan P. & Sirima S. B. 2008a. Humoral responses to Plasmodium falciparum blood-stage antigens and association with incidence of clinical malaria in children living in an area of seasonal malaria transmission in Burkina Faso, West Africa. *Infect Immun*, 76, 759-766.
- Nebie I., Tiono A. B., Diallo D. A., Samandoulougou S., Diarra A., Konate A. T., Cuzin-Ouattara N., Theisen M., Corradin G., Cousens S., Ouattara A. S., Ilboudo-Sanogo E. & Sirima B. S. 2008b. Do antibody responses to malaria vaccine candidates influenced by the level of malaria transmission protect from malaria? *Trop Med Int Health*, 13, 229-237.
- Nilsson S. K., Childs L. M., Buckee C. & Marti M. 2015. Targeting Human Transmission Biology for Malaria Elimination. *PLoS Pathog*, 11, e1004871.
- Oda-Yokouchi Y., Tachibana M., Iriko H., Torii M., Ishino T. & Tsuboi T. 2019. Plasmodium RON12 localizes to the rhoptry body in sporozoites. *Parasitol Int*, 68, 17-23.

- Osier F. H., Fegan G., Polley S. D., Murungi L., Verra F., Tetteh K. K., Lowe B., Mwangi T., Bull P. C., Thomas A. W., Cavanagh D. R., Mcbride J. S., Lanar D. E., Mackinnon M. J., Conway D. J. & Marsh K. 2008. Breadth and magnitude of antibody responses to multiple Plasmodium falciparum merozoite antigens are associated with protection from clinical malaria. *Infect Immun*, 76, 2240-2248.
- Osier F. H., Feng G., Boyle M. J., Langer C., Zhou J., Richards J. S., Mccallum F. J., Reiling L., Jaworowski A., Anders R. F., Marsh K. & Beeson J. G. 2014a. Opsonic phagocytosis of Plasmodium falciparum merozoites: mechanism in human immunity and a correlate of protection against malaria. *BMC Med*, 12, 108.
- Osier F. H., Mackinnon M. J., Crosnier C., Fegan G., Kamuyu G., Wanaguru M., Ogada E., Mcdade B., Rayner J. C., Wright G. J. & Marsh K. 2014b. New antigens for a multicomponent blood-stage malaria vaccine. *Sci Transl Med*, 6, 247ra102.
- Osier F. H., Weedall G. D., Verra F., Murungi L., Tetteh K. K., Bull P., Faber B. W., Remarque E., Thomas A., Marsh K. & Conway D. J. 2010. Allelic diversity and naturally acquired allele-specific antibody responses to Plasmodium falciparum apical membrane antigen 1 in Kenya. *Infect Immun*, 78, 4625-4633.
- Otto T. D., Wilinski D., Assefa S., Keane T. M., Sarry L. R., Bohme U., Lemieux J., Barrell B., Pain A., Berriman M., Newbold C. & Llinas M. 2010. New insights into the blood-stage transcriptome of Plasmodium falciparum using RNA-Seq. *Mol Microbiol*, 76, 12-24.
- Patel S. D., Ahouidi A. D., Bei A. K., Dieye T. N., Mboup S., Harrison S. C. & Duraisingh M. T. 2013. Plasmodium falciparum merozoite surface antigen, PfRH5, elicits detectable levels of invasion-inhibiting antibodies in humans. J Infect Dis, 208, 1679-1687.
- Perraut R., Marrama L., Diouf B., Fontenille D., Tall A., Sokhna C., Trape J. F., Garraud O. & Mercereau-Puijalon O. 2003. Distinct surrogate markers for protection against Plasmodium falciparum infection and clinical malaria identified in a Senegalese community after radical drug cure. J Infect Dis, 188, 1940-1950.
- Pinkevych M., Petravic J., Chelimo K., Kazura J. W., Moormann A. M. & Davenport M. P. 2012. The dynamics of naturally acquired immunity to Plasmodium falciparum infection. *PLoS Comput Biol*, 8, e1002729.
- Plowe C. V., Alonso P. & Hoffman S. L. 2009. The potential role of vaccines in the elimination of falciparum malaria and the eventual eradication of malaria. J Infect Dis, 200, 1646-1649.
- Rappuoli R. 2000. Reverse vaccinology. Current Opinion in Microbiology, 3, 445-450.
- Reddy K. S., Pandey A. K., Singh H., Sahar T., Emmanuel A., Chitnis C. E., Chauhan V. S. & Gaur D. 2014. Bacterially expressed full-length recombinant Plasmodium falciparum RH5 protein binds erythrocytes and elicits potent strain-transcending parasite-neutralizing antibodies. *Infect Immun*, 82, 152-164.

- Reiling L., Richards J. S., Fowkes F. J., Barry A. E., Triglia T., Chokejindachai W., Michon P., Tavul L., Siba P. M., Cowman A. F., Mueller I. & Beeson J. G. 2010. Evidence that the erythrocyte invasion ligand PfRh2 is a target of protective immunity against Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *J Immunol*, 185, 6157-6167.
- Reymond C. D., Beghdadi-Rais C., Roggero M., Duarte E. A., Desponds C., Bernard M., Groux D., Matile H., Bron C., Corradin G. & Et Al. 1995. Anchoring of an immunogenic Plasmodium falciparum circumsporozoite protein on the surface of Dictyostelium discoideum. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 12941-12947.
- Richards J. S. & Beeson J. G. 2009. The future for blood-stage vaccines against malaria. *Immunol Cell Biol*, 87, 377-390.
- Rono J., Osier F. H., Olsson D., Montgomery S., Mhoja L., Rooth I., Marsh K. & Farnert A. 2013. Breadth of anti-merozoite antibody responses is associated with the genetic diversity of asymptomatic Plasmodium falciparum infections and protection against clinical malaria. *Clin Infect Dis*, 57, 1409-1416.
- Rout S., Warhurst D. C., Suar M. & Mahapatra R. K. 2015. In silico comparative genomics analysis of Plasmodium falciparum for the identification of putative essential genes and therapeutic candidates. *J Microbiol Methods*, 109, 1-8.
- Sabchareon A., Burnouf T., Ouattara D., Attanath P., Bouharoun-Tayoun H., Chantavanich P., Foucault C., Chongsuphajaisiddhi T., Druilhe P. J. T. a. J. O. T. M. & Hygiene 1991. Parasitologic and clinical human response to immunoglobulin administration in falciparum malaria. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 45, 297-308.
- Salinas N. D., Paing M. M., Adhikari J., Gross M. L. & Tolia N. 2019. Moderatelyneutralizing epitopes in non-functional regions dominate the antibody response to Plasmodium falciparum EBA-140. *Infect Immun*, 87, e00716- e00718.
- Seck M. C., Thwing J., Badiane A. S., Rogier E., Fall F. B., Ndiaye P. I., Diongue K., Mbow M., Ndiaye M. & Gomis J. F. 2020. Analysis of anti-Plasmodium IgG profiles among Fulani nomadic pastoralists in northern Senegal to assess malaria exposure. *Malaria journal*, 19, 1-10.
- Sette A. & Rappuoli R. 2010. Reverse vaccinology: developing vaccines in the era of genomics. *Immunity*, 33, 530-541.
- Singh S. K., Tiendrebeogo R. W., Chourasia B. K., Kana I. H., Singh S. & Theisen M. 2018. Lactococcus lactis provides an efficient platform for production of disulfide-rich recombinant proteins from Plasmodium falciparum. *Microb Cell Fact*, 17, 55.
- Stanisic D. I., Fink J., Mayer J., Coghill S., Gore L., Liu X. Q., El-Deeb I., Rodriguez I. B., Powell J., Willemsen N. M., De S. L., Ho M. F., Hoffman S. L., Gerrard J. & Good M. F. 2018. Vaccination with chemically attenuated Plasmodium falciparum asexual blood-stage parasites induces parasite-specific cellular immune responses in malaria-naive volunteers: a pilot study. *BMC Med*, 16, 184.

- Storey J. R., Doros-Richert L. A., Gingrich-Baker C., Munroe K., Mather T. N., Coughlin R. T., Beltz G. A. & Murphy C. I. 1998. Molecular cloning and sequencing of three granulocytic Ehrlichia genes encoding high-molecularweight immunoreactive proteins. *Infect Immun*, 66, 1356-1363.
- Stowers A. W., Zhang Y., Shimp R. L. & Kaslow D. C. 2001. Structural conformers produced during malaria vaccine production in yeast. *Yeast*, 18, 137-150.
- Takala S. L. & Plowe C. V. 2009. Genetic diversity and malaria vaccine design, testing and efficacy: preventing and overcoming 'vaccine resistant malaria'. *Parasite Immunol*, 31, 560-573.
- Tanner M., Greenwood B., Whitty C. J., Ansah E. K., Price R. N., Dondorp A. M., Von Seidlein L., Baird J. K., Beeson J. G., Fowkes F. J., Hemingway J., Marsh K. & Osier F. 2015. Malaria eradication and elimination: views on how to translate a vision into reality. *BMC Med*, 13, 167.
- Team R. C. 2018. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*, Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Thera M. A., Doumbo O. K., Coulibaly D., Laurens M. B., Ouattara A., Kone A. K., Guindo A. B., Traore K., Traore I., Kouriba B., Diallo D. A., Diarra I., Daou M., Dolo A., Tolo Y., Sissoko M. S., Niangaly A., Sissoko M., Takala-Harrison S., Lyke K. E., Wu Y., Blackwelder W. C., Godeaux O., Vekemans J., Dubois M. C., Ballou W. R., Cohen J., Thompson D., Dube T., Soisson L., Diggs C. L., House B., Lanar D. E., Dutta S., Heppner D. G., Jr. & Plowe C. V. 2011. A field trial to assess a blood-stage malaria vaccine. *N Engl J Med*, 365, 1004-1013.
- Toenhake C. G., Fraschka S. A., Vijayabaskar M. S., Westhead D. R., Van Heeringen S. J. & Bartfai R. 2018. Chromatin Accessibility-Based Characterization of the Gene Regulatory Network Underlying Plasmodium falciparum Blood-Stage Development. *Cell Host Microbe*, 23, 557-569.e9.
- Trieu A., Kayala M. A., Burk C., Molina D. M., Freilich D. A., Richie T. L., Baldi P., Felgner P. L. & Doolan D. L. 2011. Sterile protective immunity to malaria is associated with a panel of novel P. falciparum antigens. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 10, M111.007948.
- Tsuboi T., Takeo S., Iriko H., Jin L., Tsuchimochi M., Matsuda S., Han E. T., Otsuki H., Kaneko O., Sattabongkot J., Udomsangpetch R., Sawasaki T., Torii M. & Endo Y. 2008. Wheat germ cell-free system-based production of malaria proteins for discovery of novel vaccine candidates. *Infect Immun*, 76, 1702-1708.
- Tuju J., Kamuyu G., Murungi L. M. & Osier F. H. A. 2017. Vaccine candidate discovery for the next generation of malaria vaccines. *Immunology*, 152, 195-206.
- Vaccines T. M. C. G. O. 2011. A research agenda for malaria eradication: vaccines. *PLoS Med*, 8, e1000398.
- Van Bemmelen M. X., Beghdadi-Rais C., Desponds C., Vargas E., Herrera S., Reymond C. D., Fasel N. J. M. & Parasitology B. 2000. Expression and one-step

purification of Plasmodium proteins in Dictyostelium. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology*, 111, 377-390.

- Van Dijk M. R., Janse C. J., Thompson J., Waters A. P., Braks J. A., Dodemont H. J., Stunnenberg H. G., Van Gemert G. J., Sauerwein R. W. & Eling W. 2001. A central role for P48/45 in malaria parasite male gamete fertility. *Cell*, 104, 153-164.
- Vedadi M., Lew J., Artz J., Amani M., Zhao Y., Dong A., Wasney G. A., Gao M., Hills T., Brokx S., Qiu W., Sharma S., Diassiti A., Alam Z., Melone M., Mulichak A., Wernimont A., Bray J., Loppnau P., Plotnikova O., Newberry K., Sundararajan E., Houston S., Walker J., Tempel W., Bochkarev A., Kozieradzki I., Edwards A., Arrowsmith C., Roos D., Kain K. & Hui R. 2007. Genome-scale protein expression and structural biology of Plasmodium falciparum and related Apicomplexan organisms. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 151, 100-110.
- Vilela Rodrigues T. C., Jaiswal A. K., De Sarom A., De Castro Oliveira L., Freire Oliveira C. J., Ghosh P., Tiwari S., Miranda F. M., De Jesus Benevides L., Ariston De Carvalho Azevedo V. & De Castro Soares S. 2019. Reverse vaccinology and subtractive genomics reveal new therapeutic targets against Mycoplasma pneumoniae: a causative agent of pneumonia. *R Soc Open Sci*, 6, 190907.
- Villard V., Agak G. W., Frank G., Jafarshad A., Servis C., Nébié I., Sirima S. B., Felger I., Herrera S. & Heitz F. 2007. Rapid identification of malaria vaccine candidates based on a-helical coiled coil protein motif. *PloS one*, 2, e645.
- Who 2018. World Malaria Report. World Health Organization.
- Who 2019. World Malaria Report. World Health Organization.
- Who 2020. World malaria report 2020: 20 years of global progress and challenges.
- Winskill P., Walker P. G., Cibulskis R. E. & Ghani A. C. 2019. Prioritizing the scale-up of interventions for malaria control and elimination. *Malar J*, 18, 122.
- Wright G. J. 2009. Signal initiation in biological systems: the properties and detection of transient extracellular protein interactions. *Mol Biosyst*, 5, 1405-1412.
- Yadava A. & Ockenhouse C. F. 2003. Effect of codon optimization on expression levels of a functionally folded malaria vaccine candidate in prokaryotic and eukaryotic expression systems. *Infect Immun*, 71, 4961-4969.
- Yman V., White M. T., Asghar M., Sundling C., Sonden K., Draper S. J., Osier F. H. A. & Farnert A. 2019. Antibody responses to merozoite antigens after natural Plasmodium falciparum infection: kinetics and longevity in absence of reexposure. *BMC Med*, 17, 22.
- Zenonos Z. A., Rayner J. C. & Wright G. J. 2014. Towards a comprehensive Plasmodium falciparum merozoite cell surface and secreted recombinant protein library. *Malar J*, 13, 93.
- Zerhouni E. 2019. GAVI, the Vaccine Alliance. Cell, 179, 13-17.

Zhang M., Wang C., Otto T. D., Oberstaller J., Liao X., Adapa S. R., Udenze K., Bronner I. F., Casandra D., Mayho M., Brown J., Li S., Swanson J., Rayner J. C., Jiang R. H. Y. & Adams J. H. 2018. Uncovering the essential genes of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum by saturation mutagenesis. *Science*, 360, eaap7847.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: The genomic sequence of PF3D7_1146100

1432 base pairs

ATGAAGTGTTTAATTTTTTGTTTCTCCATTTTTTTACTCTTGACCCTCTCCCTC AATATGTCACCGTATCAGCTATATTAAAAAATAATGCCTTAGAATTATTTAA gtaaaaagttataaacataaatatagattttaaaatatctactcttttctcataatatagtaatcacatatatgttatacaattatacaatatatatatatatatatatatatatatatagGGGATCTAAATTCTTTGAAAAATTTTCTTTATATGA TATCATAACTCCCATTGTAATTTTATCAACAGACGTGGAATGTTTGACATTA ttatatatatatatatatttttttttttttttttttctttgaacagTTAATGATGATTCAGTTATACTTTGgtaaaaattTGCGATACGGAGGAATCTATAAATAATTGGgtaacaaaaaaaaaaaaggaaatttaaataaag catatatatatatatatatatatatatatatatatatgtgtatgaccttatgataactataattttattacctccttaatcatataataaata TTGTCTCCATAAGGGTGAACTAAGAAACGAAAACGACAACAAAACATTGGA tttatatatcttatatattgataaactatatattttaacatctatcaaattttatagATTATAAACAATAATAATTTG AATGAAGTTTCGATTAACATAACTGAGGATGACCTCGACAATATCCCAAACG catttatttatttacttattaatttcttctttccagTCCTTATAAAGACTGAATCATAA

The highlighted bases constitute introns.

Appendix 2: The cDNA sequence of PF3D7_1146100

528 base pairs

Appendix 3: The predicted protein sequence of PF3D7_1146100

175 amino acids

MKCLIFCFSIFLLLTLSLCSTHKEQKYCNSTHRGILKYHKKKDNNEYVTVSAILK NNALELFKGSKFFEKFSLYDIITPIVILSTDVECLTLNFVNDDSVILCCDTEESINN WWLYLTKQILCLHKGELRNENDNKTLEEEQNNIINNNNLNEVSINITEDDLDNIP NVLIKTES

The predicted signal peptide made up 19 amino acids is highlighted in pink.

Appendix 4: The R code used for generation of the titration curve

#Titration curve

library(ggplot2)

setwd("C:/Users/Faima/Desktop/EGP 15")

titdata<-read.csv("egp15_titration.csv")

str(titdata)

```
titdata$conc.ug.ml.<-round(titdata$conc.ug.ml.,digits = 2)
titdata$conc.ug.ml.<-as.factor(titdata$conc.ug.ml.)
str(titdata$conc.ug.ml.)
summary(titdata$conc.ug.ml.)
titdata$od<-(titdata$od-0.1605)
variable.names(titdata)
titdata$sera<-titdata$type
str(titdata)
titdata1<-subset(titdata,type=="phis")</pre>
tidata<-titdata1[1:13,]
str(tidata)
titdata2<-titdata[23:44,]
tidata1<-titdata2[1:13,]
str(tidata1)
tiddata<-rbind(tidata,tidata1)
str(tiddata)
titdata$sera<-titdata$type
str(titdata$sera)
ggplot(tiddata,aes(conc.ug.ml.,od,group=sera))+
 geom line(aes(color=sera,linetype=sera), size=1)+
geom point(aes(color=sera,shape=sera),alpha=0.5,size=2.5,xlim=c(0,1.50),ylim=c(0,1.5
))+
```

```
scale_shape_manual(values=c(20,18)) +
```

scale_color_manual(values=c("royal blue", "magenta"))+

labs(x="Concentration (ug/ml)",y="Optical density",caption = "EGP10 Titration curve",colour="sera")+

theme classic()

Appendix 5: R code used for analysis of recombinant PF3D7_1146100 epitope data

#Epitope analysis

library(ggplot2)

library(ggpubr)

setwd("C:/Users/Faima/Desktop/EGP 15")

Epitopes<-read.csv("Epitope.csv")

str(Epitopes\$Sera)

summary(Epitopes\$Sera)

Epitopes\$Sera<-factor(Epitopes\$Sera, ordered = TRUE, levels = c("MIG","Non immune","Blank"))

Epitopes\$Antigen<-factor(Epitopes\$Antigen, ordered = TRUE, levels = c("Untreated","Heat-treated"))

e<-ggplot(data=Epitopes,aes(Sera,OD, fill= Antigen))

e+geom_bar(stat = "identity", width=0.7, position=position_dodge(width=0.8))+

geom errorbar(aes(ymax=OD.max, ymin=OD.min),width=0.3,

position=position_dodge(.8), group="Sera")+theme_classic()+

labs(x="Sera type",y="Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels",title = "Linear or Conformational epitopes?")+

theme(plot.title = element text(hjust = 0.5))+

scale fill manual(values = c("Heat-treated"="orange","Untreated"="magenta"))

```
theme(plot.title = element_text(hjust = 0.5))
```

summary(Epitopes)

Appendix 6: R code used for analysis of the antibody responses for the Junju 2014 cohort of children.

library(ggplot2)

library(ggbeeswarm)

library(ggpubr)

library(ggiraphExtra)

```
setwd("C:/Users/Faima/Desktop/EGP 15")
```

labdata<- read.csv("egp15_2014.csv")

head(labdata)

Recognition of recombinant PF3D7_1146100 antigen by sera from a prospective cohort of children from Kilifi

```
chilabdata<-subset(labdata,type!="adult")
```

```
cld<-ggplot(chilabdata,aes(type,od))
```

```
cld+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=type))+
```

```
stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.5, color="black")+
```

theme_classic()+

labs(x="Sera",y="Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels",colour="Sera\n")+

scale_colour_hue(labels=c("blank n=4","child n=333","MIG n=1","naive n=26","PHIS
n=2"))

#reading in schizont data, epidata and merging of labdata and epidata to form mergeddata

```
summary(labdata$type)
```

schizont<-read.csv("shizont_ELISA_labdata.csv")</pre>

head(schizont)

```
epidata<- read.csv("j2014m.csv")
```

head(epidata)

str(labdata)

str(epidata)

```
mergeddata<-merge(labdata,epidata,by="studyno")
```

subsetting mergeddata to childdata

```
childdata<-subset(mergeddata,type.x=="child")
```

str(childdata)

#merging schizont data and childdata to form clndata

```
clndata<-merge(schizont,childdata,by="studyno")</pre>
```

str(clndata)

```
str(clndata$sex)
```

summary(clndata\$sex)

summary(clndata\$agecat)

#antibody responses to PF3D7_1146100 increase with age

summary(clndata\$agecat)

clndata\$agecat <- as.character(clndata\$agecat)</pre>

str(clndata\$agecat)

summary(clndata\$agecat)

```
clndata$agecat<-factor(clndata$agecat,ordered = TRUE,levels = c("0-3 years","4-6 years","7-9 years","10-12 years",">12 years"))
```

pagecat<-ggplot(clndata,aes(agecat,od))</pre>

pagecat+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=agecat))+

stat_compare_means()+

stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.65, color="black")+

theme_classic()+

labs(x="Age category",y="Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels",colour="Age category\n")+

scale_colour_hue(labels = c("0-3 years n=64", "4-6 years n=64", "7-9 years n=55","10-12 years n=88",">12 years n=58"))

#antibody responses to schizont extract increase with age

agecats<-ggplot(clndata,aes(agecat,schizont))

agecats+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=agecat))+

stat compare means()+

stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.65, color="black")+

theme classic()+

labs(x="Age category",y="Anti-schizont antibody levels",colour="Age category\n")+

scale_colour_hue(labels = c("0-3 years n=64", "4-6 years n=64", "7-9 years n=55","10-12 years n=88",">12 years n=58"))

#individuals with no malaria during the follow up had high anti-PF3D7_1146100 responses

str(clndata\$od)

clndata\$malpos<-as.factor(clndata\$malpos)</pre>

clndata\$malpos <- ifelse(clndata\$malpos == 1, "Positive", "Negative")

str(clndata\$malpos)

clndata\$malpos<-as.factor(clndata\$malpos)</pre>

b<-ggplot(clndata,aes(malpos,od))

b+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=malpos))+theme_classic()+

stat_compare_means()+

stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.63, color="black")+

labs(x="Malaria outcome",y="Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody levels",colour="Malaria outcome at the end of the follow up")+

scale_colour_hue(labels = c(" Negative n=106", "Positive n=223"))

theme(plot.title = element_text(hjust = 0.5))

#individuals with no malaria during the follow up had high anti-schizont antibody responses

clndata\$malpos <- ifelse(clndata\$malpos == 1, "Positive", "Negative")

str(clndata\$malpos)

clndata\$malpos<-as.factor(clndata\$malpos)

schimal<-ggplot(clndata,aes(malpos,schizont))</pre>

schimal+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=malpos))+theme_classic()+

stat_compare_means()+

stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.63, color="black")+

labs(x="Malaria outcome",y="Anti-schizont antibody levels",colour="Malaria outcome at the end of the follow up")+

scale_colour_hue(labels = c(" Negative n=106", "Positive n=223"))

theme(plot.title = element text(hjust = 0.5))

#effect of increase in anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies and age on malaria outcome

clndata\$malpos<-as.factor(clndata\$malpos)

aom<-ggplot(data=clndata,aes(agecat,od, col= malpos))</pre>

aom+geom_quasirandom()+theme_classic()+

stat_summary(fun.y=, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.5, color="black")+

labs(x="Age category",y="Anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibody level")+

theme(plot.title = element_text(hjust = 0.5))

#distribution of episode number levels in each age category

```
clndata$episodesno<-
factor(clndata$episodes,ordered=TRUE,levels=c("8","7","6","5","4","3","2","1","0"))
```

```
clndata$agecat<-factor(clndata$agecat,ordered=TRUE,levels=c("0-3years","4-6 years","7-9 years","10-12 years",">12 years"))
```

str(clndata\$agecat)

```
mce<-ggplot(data=clndata,aes(agecat,episodes, fill=episodesno))
```

```
mce+geom_bar(stat = "identity",
width=0.6,position=position_dodge(width=1))+theme_classic()+
```

```
labs(x="Age category",y="No. of episodes")+
```

```
theme(plot.title = element_text(hjust = 0.5))
```

#Tertiles

```
cutN <- function(X , n = 4){
  cut(
    X ,
    include.lowest = TRUE ,
    breaks = quantile(
    X ,
    probs = (0:n)/n ,
    na.rm = TRUE ))}
clndata$tertile<-cutN( clndata$od, n = 3)</pre>
```

clndata \$tertile<-ordered
(clndata \$tertile,labels=c("Low n=111","Medium n=108","High n=110"))

```
tertile.summary <- summary(clndata)</pre>
```

```
u<-ggplot(clndata,aes(tertile,od))
```

u+geom_quasirandom(aes(col=tertile),show.legend = F)+

```
stat_compare_means()+
```

stat_summary(fun.y= median, fun.ymin=median, fun.ymax=median, geom="crossbar", width=0.5, color="black")+

```
labs(x="Tertile",y="anti EGP 10 antibody levels")+theme_classic()+
```

```
scale_colour_manual(values = c("green", "magenta", "navy blue"))
```

```
theme(plot.title = element_text(hjust = 0.5))
```

```
str(clndata$episodes)
```

summary(clndata\$episodes)

clndata\$episodes<-as.integer(clndata\$episodes)

str(clndata\$tertile)

summary(clndata\$tertile)

clndata\$tertile<-ordered(clndata\$tertile,labels=c("Low","Medium","High"))

v<-ggplot(clndata,aes(tertile,episodes))

v+geom boxplot(aes(fill=tertile))+

geom_jitter()+theme_classic()+

labs(x="Tertile",y="No. of episodes",colour="Tertile\n")+

scale_fill_manual(values=c("green","magenta","navy blue"))

#logistic regression

clndata\$tertile<-ordered(clndata\$tertile,labels=c("Low","Medium","High"))

low<-subset(clndata,tertile=="Low")

medium<-subset(clndata,tertile=="Medium")</pre>

high<-subset(clndata,tertile=="High")

lomed<-subset(clndata,tertile!="High")</pre>

#univarites analysis

#model 1 - Low v/s Medium

summary(lomed)

modell<-glm(lomed\$malpos~lomed\$tertile,family = "binomial")</pre>

summary(modell)

exp(coef(modell))

confint.default(modell)

#model 2 - Medium v/s High

medhi<-subset(clndata,tertile!="Low")</pre>

summary(medhi)

modelm<-glm(medhi\$malpos~medhi\$tertile,family = "binomial")</pre>

summary(modelm)

exp(coef(modelm))

mean(medium\$episodes)-mean(low\$episodes)

confint.default(modelm)

#model 3 - High v/s Low

hilow<-subset(clndata,tertile!="Medium")

summary(hilow)

modelh<-glm(hilow\$malpos~hilow\$tertile,family = "binomial")</pre>

summary(modelh)

confint.default(modelh)

exp(coef(modelh))

#model 4 - Adjusting for exposure

modelh<-glm(hilow\$malpos~hilow\$tertile+hilow\$schizont,family = "binomial")</pre>

summary(modelh)

confint.default(modelh)

exp(coef(modelh))

#model 5 - Adjusting for age

modelh<-glm(hilow\$malpos~hilow\$tertile+hilow\$age_init+hilow\$schizont,family =
"binomial")</pre>

summary(modelh)

confint.default(modelh)

exp(coef(modelh))

Appendix 7: Logistic regression model

Logistic regression was used to describe the factors that impacted malaria outcome in a cohort of children living in a malaria endemic area. This statistical technique was chosen due to the binary nature of the response variable which was absence or presence of malaria at the end of the 6 months follow up. In statistics, logistic regression analysis is a tool exploited in describing the relationship between an independent or predictor variable and a binary dependent or response variable (presence of malaria is represented by 1 and its absence by 0). The independent variable(s) can be continuous or categorical. Logistic regression measures the effect of change of the independent variable on the dependent variable whose relationship has been made linear through logit-transformation. When describing the relationship between one predictor variable and the binary response variable, the logistic regression analysis is referred to as univariate. When adjusting for confounding effects, the analysis involves more than one predictor variable and is termed multivariate.

logit $y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1$ (Univariate model)

logit $y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_3 x_3 + \dots + \beta_n x_n$ (multivariate model)

y= dependent variable (malaria outcome) β = regression coefficient x= independent variable

The regression coefficient, β shows the degree to which a change in any of the predictor variables influences the change in the response variable. It gives an estimation of the extent of change in the response variable due to a unit change in the predictor variable (s). A larger regression coefficient is a reflection of how more a unit change in the independent variable impacts the dependent variable. A negative β coefficient value denotes an inverse relationship between the dependent variable and the independent variable is true. The significance of the influence of the predictor variable on the response variable is shown by low p-values.

As mentioned earlier, a univariate model consists of only one predictor variable that does not fully explain its influence on the response variable. To assess the influence, the other independent variables have to be included in the model in order to reduce bias, which is strength of this statistical tool. In this multivariate model, the β coefficient value denotes the impact of the changes in the predictor variables on the response variable after adjusting for the effect of all other predictor variables in the model.

In this study, the forward selection method of building a model was explored, that is, predictor variables were added one after another and their impact on the model assessed.

Assumptions of the models

- 1. Independence of errors that is, separation of sample group outcomes
- 2. There is a linear relationship between continuous independent variables and their respective logit-transformed outcomes

- 3. There is no multicollinearity or redundancy between independent variables
- 4. The predicted outcome differs slightly from the actual outcome of a sample member

Appendix 8: Anti-schizont antibodies increase with age



Antibodies against schizont extract are observed to increase with age with the children above 12 years recording the highest median levels in the cohort. This shows that the children in the 0-3 years were less exposed to *P. falciparum* when compared to the >12 years category.

Appendix 9: Anti-disease immunity increases with age



The number of malaria negative children and anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies are observed to increase with age. Fewer malaria negative children characterized with low anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies are observed in the 0-3 years category and the number increases up to the children above 12 years who have high anti-PF3D7_1146100 antibodies.

Malpos represents malaria outcome at the end of the follow up.

Red dots represent 0 in the graph indicating malaria negative children

Blue dots represent 1 in the graph indicating malaria positive children



Appendix 10: Distribution of malaria episode levels in each age category

Five levels of episode numbers are observed in the 0-3 years and >12 years age categories with the highest number of episodes being 8 and 5 respectively. This could be attributed to the low exposure to *P. falciparum* in the young children and acquisition of anti-disease immunity in the older children. The other age categories have 7 levels each with the highest number of episodes being 8 in the 4-6 years and 7-9 years age categories and 7 in the remaining category. A maturing immune system and increased P. falciparum could be the probable explanation.

Appendix 11: Ethical approval document



KENYA MEDICAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

P.O. Box 54840-00200, NAIROBI, Kenya Tel:(254) (020) 2722541, 2713348, 0722-205901, 0733-400003, Fax: (254) (020) 2720030 E-mail: director@kemri.org, info@kemri.org, Website.www.kemri.org

KEMRI/RES/7/3/1

October 15, 2018

то:	PROF. FAITH OSIER, PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR	
THROUGH:	THE DIRECTOR, CGMR-C	DIRECTOR CENTRE FOR GEOGRAPHIC MEDICINE RESEARCH, COAST
Dear Madam,	For Kor.	
RE:	SERU 3139 (REQUEST FOR ANNUAL A MEROZOITE TARGETS OF PROTECTIVE IMMU	RENEWAL): DEFINING THE NITY AGAINST PLASMODIUM

FALCIPARUM MALARIA THROUGH MULTI-CENTRE COHORT STUDIES.

Thank you for the continuing review report for the period October 29, 2017 to September 14, 2018.

This is to inform you that the Expedited Review Team of the KEMRI Scientific and Ethics Review Unit (SERU) was of the informed opinion that the progress made during the reported period is satisfactory. The study has therefore been granted **approval**.

This approval is valid from October 30, 2018 through to October 29, 2019. Please note that authorization to conduct this study will automatically expire on October 29, 2019. If you plan to continue with data collection or analysis beyond this date please submit an application for continuing approval to the SERU by September 17, 2019.

You are required to submit any amendments to this protocol and other information pertinent to human participation in this study to the SERU for review prior to initiation.

Yours faithfully,

ENOCK KEBENEI, ACTING HEAD, KEMRI SCIENTIFIC AND ETHICS REVIEW UNIT



In Search of Better Health